

SUBMINIMUM WAGE PROGRAM Employment Outcomes and Views of Former Workers in Two States

Report to Congressional Requesters

April 2025

GAO-25-106471

United States Government Accountability Office

Accessible Version

GAO Highlights

View GAO-25-106471. For more information, contact Elizabeth H. Curda at EWISInquiry@gao.gov. Highlights of GAO-25-106471, a report to congressional requesters April 2025

SUBMINIMUM WAGE PROGRAM

Employment Outcomes and Views of Former Workers in Two States

Why GAO Did This Study

The 14(c) program originated from a provision of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938. Almost 40,000 people with disabilities were working under 14(c) certificates as of November 2024. Proposed federal legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) certificates has raised questions about what happens to people when the program is eliminated.

GAO was asked to review the effects of eliminating the use of 14(c) certificates on 14(c) workers. This report examines (1) which states have eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates and are collecting outcome data on former employees, (2) post-14(c) employment outcomes in two selected states, and (3) the views of people who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers in selected states about the transition away from 14(c) employment.

GAO selected a nongeneralizable sample of two states, selected in part because they collected multiple years of relevant data. In Colorado, GAO analyzed data on former 14(c) workers from July 2021 to February 2024. In Oregon, GAO analyzed data on former 14(c) workers from July 2014 to April 2024. GAO also conducted in-person interviews with a nongeneralizable sample of 19 individuals from these two states who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers, selected to represent a range of experiences with the transition out of 14(c) employment in rural and urban settings.

What GAO Found

As of January 2025, 16 states had enacted legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) certificates, according to the Department of Labor (DOL) and state officials. DOL can grant these certificates to employers to pay wages below the federal minimum to certain individuals with disabilities. These states enacted legislation between 2015 and 2025, according to DOL and state officials.



States That Have Enacted Legislation Eliminating the Use of 14(c) Certificates as of January 2025, According to DOL and State Information

surce: GAO analysis of information received from Department of Labor (DOL) and state officials and available on state websites; United States Geological Survey (map). | GAO-25-106471

	nacted to eliminate the use of s (34 states and D.C.)	Eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates (5 states)	Eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates and collecting outcome data (11 states)		
Ala.	Miss.	Alaska	Calif.		
Ariz.	Mont.	Hawaii	Colo.		
Ark.	Nebr.	Maine	Del.		
Conn.	N.J.	S. Carolina	III.		
D.C.	N. Mex.	Tenn.	Md.		
Fla.	N.Y.		Nev.		
Ga.	N.C.		N.H.		
Idaho	N. Dak.		Oreg.		
Ind.	Ohio		R.I.		
lowa	Okla.		Va.		
Kans.	Pa.		Wash.		
Ky.	S. Dak.				
La.	Tex.				
Mass.	Utah				
Mo.	Vt.				
Mich.	W. Va.				
Minn.	Wyo.				

Source: GAO analysis of information received from Department of Labor (DOL) and state officials and available on state websites; United States Geological Survey (map). | GAO-25-106471

GAO's analysis of data from two selected states that eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates—Colorado and Oregon provides a partial picture of outcomes in those states. As of 2023 (the most recent data available), fewer than half of the approximately 1,000 people these states were able to track had moved from 14(c) to some other type of employment. This included competitive integrated employment (CIE), which entails earning a competitive wage at or above the federal minimum alongside people without disabilities. The remaining 54 to 61 percent of people the states were able to track were not working but were receiving non-employment services funded by Medicaid, such as day services to build socialization and daily living skills. Both states were not able to easily track outcomes for people who no longer received Medicaid services. Those individuals may or may not be working; may have chosen to retire; may have lost eligibility; or may no longer be living, according to state officials. People who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers in the selected states discussed positive and challenging experiences related to 14(c) employment and CIE. For both types of employment, more interview participants discussed positive experiences than challenging ones. For instance, people frequently cited liking the tasks they completed and the interpersonal relationships they had in both 14(c) employment and CIE. People also discussed a range of experiences with their transition out of 14(c) employment, such as opportunities for new social connections and challenges related to finding CIE.

Contents

GAO Highlights	ii
Why GAO Did This Study	ii
What GAO Found	ii
Letter	1
Background	3
Available State Data on Post-14(c) Employment Outcomes	6
Post-14(c) Employment Outcomes in Selected States	8
Perspectives of Individuals Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment and Their Caregivers	20
Appendix I: Objectives, Scope, and Methodology	28
Appendix II: State Data Collection Efforts Related to Eliminating the Use of 14(c) Certificates	45
Appendix III: Profiles of Selected States	47
Colorado	48
Oregon	50
Appendix IV: GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments	53
GAO Contact	53
Staff Acknowledgments	53

Tables

Table 1: Average Wages and Hours Worked for Coloradans Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employme 2021-June 2023	ent, June 16
Table 2: Average Wages and Hours Worked for Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, September 2015-September 2023	17
Table 3: Themes and Definitions from GAO's Content Analysis of Interviews with Individuals Who UWork in 14(c) Employment and Their Caregivers	Jsed to 43
Table 4: States That Have Enacted Legislation Eliminating the Use of 14(c) Certificates and Their F Data Collection Efforts	Related 45
Figures	

		гасіс	151	natin	nuence	Trans	лн 1 4 (pioyi		Jenny	/e iii	legiale	ea Empio	Jyment	_
(C	SIE)														5
	_	.			_		 	 	 						_

Figure 2: States That Have Enacted Legislation Eliminating the Use of 14(c) Certificates as of January 2025, According to DOL and State Information 7

Figure 3: Colorado Workers' Initial Placements after Leaving 14(c) Employment, July 2021 – June 2023 9

Figure 4: Use of Medicaid Supported Employment and Other Services among Coloradans Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, July 2021-June 2023	10
Figure 5: Use of Medicaid Supported Employment and Other Services among Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, September 2015-September 2023	12
Figure 6: Outcomes for Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment by Baseline Hourly Wage Level, September 2023	y 15
Figure 7: Outcomes Among Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, September 2023	19
Figure 8: Overall Use of Medicaid Funded Day Services and Employment Supports among Coloradans W Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, February 2024	/ho 31
Figure 9: Overall Use of Medicaid Funded Day Services and Supported Employment Among Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, September 2023	34
Figure 10: Employment and Other Outcomes Among Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment by Baseline Hourly Wage Level, September 2015-September 2023	36
Figure 11: Self-Reported Characteristics of Individuals GAO Interviewed Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment	42

Abbreviations

ABLE	Achieving a Better Life Experience
CIE	Competitive integrated employment
DOL	Department of Labor
EOS	Employment Outcomes System
HCBS	Home- and community-based services
I/DD	Intellectual or developmental disabilities
SSI	Supplemental Security Income
VR	Vocational Rehabilitation

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

April 29, 2025

The Honorable Tim Walberg Chairman Committee on Education and Workforce House of Representatives

The Honorable Virginia Foxx House of Representatives

The Honorable Glenn Grothman House of Representatives

Under Section 14(c) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, the Department of Labor (DOL) may authorize employers to pay wages below the federal minimum (also known as "subminimum" wages) to individuals with disabilities if their earning or productive capacity is limited because of their disability.¹ This provision is intended to prevent the curtailment of employment opportunities. Almost 40,000 people with disabilities were employed under 14(c) certificates as of 2024.² Such employment often takes place in a sheltered workshop setting, where all employees have disabilities—typically an intellectual or developmental disability (I/DD).

In recent years, there has been an increased emphasis on competitive integrated employment (CIE) for people with disabilities. In 2014, the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act amended the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 to state that one of its purposes is "to maximize opportunities for individuals with disabilities, including individuals with significant disabilities, for [CIE]."³ In contrast to employment in sheltered workshops at subminimum wages under 14(c) certificates, CIE entails earning a competitive wage at or above the federal minimum in an integrated employment setting where workers with disabilities interact with other people without disabilities to the same extent that workers without disabilities do.

Federal legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) has been proposed several times, and in December 2024, DOL issued a notice of proposed rulemaking proposing to stop issuing new 14(c) certificates and phase out existing certificates.⁴ In addition, some states have enacted legislation eliminating subminimum wages for individuals with disabilities (including those earned at sheltered workshops). Questions have been raised, however, about employment outcomes for these individuals when the use of 14(c) is eliminated.

You asked us to review the effects of eliminating the use of 14(c) on the employment of individuals with disabilities. This report examines: (1) which states have enacted legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c)

³Pub. L. No. 113-128, § 402(b)(3), 128 Stat. 1425, 1631-32 (2014), codified at 29 U.S.C. § 701(b)(2).

⁴Employment of Workers with Disabilities Under Section 14(c) of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 89 Fed. Reg. 96,466 (Dec. 4, 2024).

¹See 29 U.S.C. § 214(c).

²Based on data from the Department of Labor's website as of November 1, 2024, for 751 employers who applied for and were certified to pay less than minimum wage. This does not include workers listed on 41 pending applications; certificate holders who submit renewal applications on time are permitted to continue to pay employees at subminimum wages while their applications are pending.

Letter

certificates and are collecting data on employment outcomes for people who worked in the program, (2) employment outcomes for people with disabilities who worked in the 14(c) program in selected states, and (3) the views of people and their caregivers in selected states about their transition out of 14(c) employment, including opportunities and challenges.

To examine states' data collection, we obtained information on which states had enacted legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) certificates as of January 2025 from DOL officials, selected experts on the employment of people with disabilities and related state data, key stakeholder organizations, and publicly available sources such as state websites.⁵ We sent questionnaires to cognizant state officials in the 16 states we identified and asked them to confirm or correct information we gathered, such as information about their state laws and whether they are collecting data on employment outcomes. We received responses from all 16 states we queried. We also used this information to select states to serve as illustrative examples for our other two objectives. We initially selected three states (Colorado, Maryland, and Oregon) because they had multiple years of relevant data on outcomes and had eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates recently enough that individuals who formerly worked in the program and their caregivers could more easily speak to their experiences with the transition. Specifically, we selected states where this transition was ongoing, or was completed no earlier than 2020. Maryland officials declined to participate in in-depth interviews for this study and to share data at an individual level, citing staff capacity issues.

To understand employment outcomes, we analyzed the most recently available, anonymized data provided at the individual level by the two states that agreed to participate in our study (Colorado and Oregon). In Colorado, we analyzed information regarding each worker's transition out of 14(c) employment provided by 14(c) employers from July 2021 through June 2023 and data the state collected on Medicaid services provided to people who formerly worked in 14(c) employers and other Medicaid service providers in their Employment Outcomes System (EOS) on each worker's transition, as well as data on services provided by Medicaid, from September 2015 through September 2023.⁷ We also analyzed data on Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) services provided to the same population from July 2014 through April 2024.

We assessed the reliability of relevant variables by conducting electronic data tests for completeness and accuracy, reviewing documentation, and interviewing knowledgeable officials about how the data were collected and maintained and their appropriate uses. We determined that these data were sufficiently reliable to describe what is known about employment outcomes in Colorado and Oregon for people who formerly worked in 14(c) employment.⁸ To add context to our findings and better understand the landscape of the two

⁵We did not conduct an independent legal search to find such legislation. We selected four experts based on their academic research, policy expertise, and knowledge of state legislation and data collection. We interviewed four organizations involved in 14(c) employment, CIE, and providing services to people with disabilities with a range of perspectives on 14(c). See appendix I for more information.

⁶As discussed below, Medicaid funding is used for providing services for people with I/DD, including services to help find and maintain employment.

⁷The Employment Outcomes System is a system for collecting data twice per year on the job outcomes of people with I/DD who are receiving employment services from Oregon's Office of Developmental Disabilities Services.

⁸These data included people who formerly worked in 14(c) employment and were receiving services. There may have been additional people who worked in 14(c) employment and did not receive Medicaid or other services, and therefore were not tracked in these data. For more information, see appendix I.

selected states, we interviewed relevant state agency officials, such as those from developmental disabilities services agencies, and five selected stakeholders involved in transition efforts.⁹ Employment outcomes we observed in these two states are not generalizable to all states that have eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates.

To obtain the views of those who were affected by the elimination of the use of 14(c) certificates, we conducted in-person interviews with 19 people who previously worked in 14(c) employment in Colorado and Oregon; in most cases we also interviewed a caregiver (a family member, guardian, or other support person of the individual's choosing). We worked with state officials, case managers, former 14(c) employers, and others to identify people with a range of experiences, including those working and not working and those in both rural and urban areas. We interviewed 11 people who were working in CIE and eight who were not working and either attended a day services program or did not receive services.¹⁰ The perspectives of the people we interviewed are not generalizable to all people participating in 14(c) employment. For more information on our scope and methodology, see appendix I.

We conducted this performance audit from December 2022 to April 2025 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Background

14(c) Employers and Employees

Section 14(c) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 allows DOL to certify employers to pay subminimum wage rates in certain circumstances. Under the law, such wages must be related to the productivity of the individual completing the work. Section 14(c) certificate holders, referred to in this report as 14(c) employers, can be private businesses but are often nonprofit agencies or organizations, known as community rehabilitation programs, that provide rehabilitation and skills training to people with disabilities.¹¹ In a prior survey of community rehabilitation programs that were 14(c) employers, we found that an estimated 70 percent of workers received day services that were provided directly from or organized by their employers.¹² These included non-work activities or services to help build socialization and daily living skills and may have taken place at a facility owned by the service provider or out in the community.

⁹We selected these stakeholders based on discussions with state officials, national organizations, and experts on disability employment.

¹⁰Day services are non-residential Medicaid services that assist with life skills.

¹¹Section 14(c) employers finance their operations using some combination of public funding, revenue from their business, and charitable contributions.

¹²GAO, *Subminimum Wage Program: DOL Could Do More to Ensure Timely Oversight,* GAO-23-105116 (Washington, D.C.: Jan. 25, 2023).

Most individuals employed in the 14(c) program have I/DD.¹³ I/DD includes a range of conditions that are present from childhood and can require lifelong care and support. Examples of I/DD include Down syndrome and autism spectrum disorder—conditions that may result in difficulties with learning, problem solving, and the ability to acquire and use everyday life skills.

Federal and State Programs That Support People with I/DD

Medicaid is the nation's primary payer of long-term services and supports for individuals with I/DD. Medicaid is a joint federal-state health care financing program for certain low-income and medically needy individuals that is overseen at the federal level by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services within the Department of Health and Human Services and administered at the state level by individual state Medicaid agencies. Long-term services and supports provided through Medicaid encompass a broad set of health care, personal care, and supportive services. Service providers, such as community rehabilitation programs that deliver long-term services and supports outside of institutional settings, are known as home- and community-based services (HCBS) providers. These services may include day services, behavioral support, and supported employment—assistance with gaining and maintaining employment in an integrated setting.¹⁴ In 2014, the Centers for Medicare & Medicare & Medicaid Services issued a final rule establishing certain requirements for the settings in which HCBS could be provided, aimed at maximizing opportunities to receive services in the most integrated community-based settings.¹⁵

The VR program provides services, including counseling and training, that, among other things, help people with disabilities obtain CIE. The Department of Education oversees VR program funding and distributes it as grants to the state agencies that administer the program. To be eligible for VR services, an individual must have an impairment that constitutes a substantial impediment to employment and must be able to benefit from VR services in terms of an employment outcome.

Individuals with disabilities also may qualify for benefits unrelated to their employment, such as Supplemental Security Income (SSI). Administered by the Social Security Administration, SSI is a federal benefit program that pays monthly benefits to certain individuals with limited income and resources who are aged, blind, or have a disability. To be eligible for the program on the basis of a disability, an adult must have a medically determinable physical or mental impairment that (1) has lasted or is expected to last for a continuous period of at least 1 year or is expected to result in death and (2) prevents them from engaging in substantial gainful

¹³GAO-23-105116.

¹⁴Supported employment includes job coaching. We use those terms interchangeably in the report. Providing most HCBS is optional for state Medicaid programs, and there is no standardized definition of what constitutes these services. States that choose to offer HCBS in their Medicaid programs have flexibility to decide which specific services to cover. For more information, see GAO, *Medicaid: Characteristics of and Expenditures for Adults with Intellectual or Developmental Disabilities*, GAO-23-105457 (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 24, 2023).

¹⁵Medicaid Program; State Plan Home and Community-Based Services, 5-Year Period for Waivers, Provider Payment Reassignment, and Home and Community-Based Setting Requirements for Community First Choice and Home and Community-Based Services (HCBS) Waivers; 79 Fed. Reg. 2,948 (Jan. 16, 2014).

activity—generally considered by the Social Security Administration to be earning above a certain monthly amount.¹⁶

Movement from 14(c) to CIE

Our prior work identified a number of factors that influence whether and how individuals move out of 14(c) employment and into CIE.¹⁷ Figure 1 shows these factors, which we identified through interviews with experts and state officials.



Source: GAO-21-260; icons-studio/stock.adobe.com (icons). | GAO-25-106471

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying certain individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage, often in a sheltered workshop setting where most employees have disabilities.

¹⁶For 2024, this amount was \$1,550 a month for non-blind individuals. In this report, we focus on working-age adults (18 to 65 years old).

¹⁷GAO, Subminimum Wage Program: Factors Influencing the Transition of Individuals with Disabilities to Competitive Integrated Employment, GAO-21-260 (Washington, D.C.; March 2021).

^aSection 511 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 requires that individuals receive, as a condition of 14(c) employment, regular career counseling and information designed to enable the individuals to explore, discover, experience, and attain CIE.

In December 2024, DOL published a framework for increasing CIE through state policy. According to DOL, this framework identifies barriers to increasing CIE and describes how policy and practice can promote CIE at the state level throughout the nation.

Available State Data on Post-14(c) Employment Outcomes

How many states have enacted legislation eliminating the use of 14(c) certificates?

In 2014, all states except Vermont had at least one active 14(c) certificate, according to our prior analysis of DOL data.¹⁸ From 2015 to January 2025, however, 16 states enacted legislation eliminating the use of 14(c) certificates, according to DOL and state officials. These states are: Alaska, California, Colorado, Delaware, Hawaii, Illinois, Maine, Maryland, Nevada, New Hampshire, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, and Washington. See the subsequent question and appendix II for more information about these states. As of November 2024, 37 states had at least one active 14(c) certificate. Some states may have taken steps other than enacting legislation to reduce the use of 14(c) certificates, such as no longer allowing Medicaid funding to be used for services provided through 14(c) employment.

What data on employment outcomes are available for states that have enacted legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) certificates?

No federal data sets systematically collect data on individuals transitioning out of 14(c) employment, according to DOL officials. Existing federal data sets are generally tied to whether people receive services from specific federal programs. For example, people in 14(c) employment may receive Medicaid services, such as supported employment (e.g., job coaching) or day services, but Medicaid data do not specifically identify those individuals as 14(c) workers.¹⁹ Limited data on some 14(c) workers, such as their wages in one specific quarter within a 2-year period as reported by their employer when applying for a section 14(c) certificate, are available from DOL's system for processing 14(c) certificates. However, these data do not include Social Security numbers or other unique identifiers, making it difficult to match with other federal data sources. In addition, according to Department of Education officials, the VR data system collects information on whether someone receiving VR services was referred to the program by a 14(c) employer.²⁰ At the same time, not all people who worked in 14(c) employment seek VR services.²¹

¹⁸This includes the District of Columbia. We analyzed these data from DOL's Certificate Processing System as part of our work for a prior report (GAO-23-105116). According to the Association of People Supporting Employment First, between 1999 and 2005, Vermont implemented changes and no longer supports center-based or group supported employment services.

¹⁹For our analysis of employment outcomes in our selected states, we relied on Medicaid service data that the states had matched to their list of individuals who formerly worked in 14(c) employment.

²⁰Specifically, according to Department of Education officials, the Case Service Report (RSA-911), which VR agencies report quarterly to the department's Rehabilitation Services Administration, collects the source of referral to VR, which includes 14(c) employers.

²¹For example, our analysis of data in Oregon found that about 60 percent of individuals who had been in 14(c) employment that the state was tracking participated in the VR process between 2015 and 2023.

In the absence of federal data, some states are collecting information on employment outcomes for people who used to work in 14(c) employment. According to DOL and state officials, of the 16 states that have enacted legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) certificates as of January 2025, 11 reported collecting or planning to collect data on employment outcomes of people who transitioned out of such employment (see fig. 2). These 11 states reported collecting specific data at the individual level, such as hours worked, wages earned, movement to CIE or unpaid activities, and employment status.



Figure 2: States That Have Enacted Legislation Eliminating the Use of 14(c) Certificates as of January 2025, According to DOL and State Information

Source: GAO analysis of information received from Department of Labor (DOL) and state officials and available on state websites; United States Geological Survey (map). | GAO-25-106471

Note: 14(c) certificates are issued by DOL and permit employers to pay certain individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage.

Some states enacted legislation in recent years and either had not yet begun collecting data or had data covering a short period of time. Other states had few or no individuals working in 14(c) employment at the time legislation was enacted. As mentioned previously, we selected Colorado and Oregon because they agreed to share multiple years of relevant data on outcomes, among other factors.

Colorado enacted legislation to phase out the use of 14(c) certificates from July 1, 2021, through July 1, 2025. State officials reported that by July 1, 2023, there were no longer any individuals employed under 14(c) certificates in Colorado. The legislation required employers holding 14(c) certificates to report on workers' initial placement after leaving 14(c) employment, including the number of individuals who went into CIE or day services and their wages and hours worked, as applicable. State officials said that the 195 people in 14(c) employment at the time the legislation went into effect and for whom data were collected represent a smaller subset of the people who had worked in 14(c) employment in the state. For example, they said that about 500 people in the state worked in 14(c) employment at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

According to state officials, Oregon entered into an agreement with the Department of Justice in 2015 to settle a lawsuit related to the state's provision of employment services to people with I/DD in segregated settings, such as sheltered workshops. Officials said the agreement, which did not specifically involve 14(c) employment but did involve sheltered workshops, set targets such as reducing the number of individuals in sheltered workshops and increasing the provision of employment services.²² They said it also required that the state track data on the types of supported employment services each person covered by the settlement agreement received, along with wages, and hours worked for those who were employed. Officials told us the state was tracking 1,875 individuals who were working for less than minimum wage in September 2015.²³ Oregon subsequently enacted legislation in 2019 that eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates.²⁴ See appendix III for more information on our selected states.

Post-14(c) Employment Outcomes in Selected States

What are the employment outcomes for workers in selected states after leaving 14(c) employment?

Our analysis of data from Colorado and Oregon provides a partial picture of employment outcomes in those states, given data limitations. Both selected states track individuals primarily using data on Medicaid services and additional information, such as wages and hours worked, provided by former 14(c) employers or service providers. As a result, neither state was easily able to track long-term outcomes for all individuals who worked in 14(c) employment, particularly if individuals stopped receiving Medicaid services. For example, individuals who no longer receive Medicaid-funded services may or may not be working; may have chosen to retire; may have lost eligibility; or may no longer be living. We discuss these limitations further in a subsequent question about why selected states were unable to track outcomes for certain people who worked in 14(c) employment.

The data nevertheless provide insights into employment outcomes for a significant number of people who worked in 14(c) employment in these states. For example, Oregon's data tracks individuals with I/DD who receive supported employment services from Medicaid and flags those who were paid less than minimum wage. As a result, the data do not include individuals with other types of disabilities working in 14(c) employment or those who were earning higher wages before their transition out of 14(c) employment. At the

²²According to the Department of Justice, in August 2022, the U.S. District Court for the District of Oregon found that the state had fulfilled the terms of the settlement agreement. According to the Department, the agreement resolved the first lawsuit in the U.S. to challenge a state's reliance on segregated employment settings for individuals with disabilities, including sheltered workshops, as a violation of the integration mandate of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.

²³Officials told us that the tracking data also included individuals who were receiving supported employment services but were not part of the sheltered workshop population. State officials also said that most but not all of those who were working for less than minimum wage in September 2015 were part of the sheltered workshop population.

²⁴Beginning July 1, 2020, employers were required to pay at least \$9.25 an hour, which was above the federal minimum wage (effectively ending the use of 14(c) certificates) but below the state minimum wage. The legislation prohibited 14(c) certificate holders from paying less than the state minimum wage after June 30, 2023.

Letter

same time, our prior work suggests that Oregon's data include the vast majority of individuals who worked in 14(c) employment at the time.²⁵

<u>Colorado</u>

Of the 195 people in 14(c) employment immediately before Colorado's transition away from 14(c) employment, about half moved to CIE or supported group employment (where groups of two to eight individuals with disabilities work together), according to state data on workers' initial placements gathered between July 2021 and June 2023 (see fig. 3).²⁶ More than a third were participating in Medicaid employment preparation services or day services. Fourteen percent were not included in this initial placement data for a variety of reasons, including because they left their 14(c) employer prior to the state's transition away from 14(c) employment.²⁷

Figure 3: Colorado Workers' Initial Placements after Leaving 14(c) Employment, July 2021 – June 2023

24%	25%	21%	16%	14%
Competitive integrated employment (CIE) Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities Non-residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job	Outcome not tracked

Source: GAO analysis of Colorado's 14(c) tracking data. | GAO-25-106471

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. These data, collected from former 14(c) employers during a 2-year period and verified by Colorado officials in February 2024, represent initial placements for 195 individuals after they left 14(c) employment during the state's transition away from 14(c) employment. According to state officials, the state did not require employers to continue to track workers after these placements. As a result, the data do not provide information on any subsequent changes in employment. In addition, employer-reported information covers the employment that these individuals engaged in and, if not employed, the non-employment services or activities individuals received. To avoid double-counting, the data capture one outcome for each individual, with a priority on employment. For example, a person working in group employment may have also received day services, but this figure reflects their employment.

Another data source provides additional insight into outcomes for many of the 195 former 14(c) workers over time.²⁸ During the state's transition away from 14(c) employment, the number of people working with Medicaid-

²⁵Specifically, our prior work found that an estimated 90 percent of individuals in 14(c) employment nationwide at the most common type of employer in August 2021 had I/DD. In addition, a small percentage (3.5 percent) of those in 14(c) employment in a state like Oregon (with a minimum wage above the federal minimum) earned above the state minimum in 2019. See GAO-23-105116. See appendix I for more information on our analysis of Oregon data.

²⁶Colorado gathered these data from former 14(c) employers, who reported on workers' initial placements after leaving 14(c) employment. According to state officials, the state did not require employers to continue to track workers after these placements. As a result, the data do not provide information on workers' retention in their CIE jobs, for example, or whether people receiving employment preparation services ultimately found jobs. See appendix I for more information.

 27 In Colorado, the remaining 14(c) employers were also agencies that provided Medicaid-funded services, according to officials. The 14 percent of individuals not tracked in these data had retired, passed away, or already moved to a different employer or service provider before the state's transition away from 14(c) employment, so their former 14(c) employers were not aware of what the individuals did after leaving 14(c) employment.

²⁸We used the state's data on Medicaid services received by individuals who used to work in 14(c) employment for this analysis. About 5 percent of those who used to work in 14(c) employment were not tracked because they were (1) not eligible for supported employment services under their type of Medicaid waiver, or (2) receiving services through a state-funded program that is not tracked in the Medicaid data system, according to state officials. In addition, some individuals did not receive Medicaid services for 1 or more months during the transition period, including some in the month data collection began (July 2021). We discuss this limitation further in the subsequent question about why selected states were unable to track outcomes for certain people who worked in 14(c) employment.

funded supported employment decreased while use of day services or community activities increased, according to our analysis of data from July 2021 through June 2023 (see fig. 4).²⁹ At the same time, the share of those receiving Medicaid-funded supported employment who were working in group employment during this period fell while the share working in CIE doubled, from 14 to 28 percent.³⁰ As of February 2024, almost 20 percent of the former 14(c) workers were no longer included in the Medicaid data. For more information, see the subsequent question about why selected states were unable to track outcomes for certain people who worked in 14(c) employment.





Source: GAO analysis of Colorado's Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

²⁹Medicaid-funded employment support includes supported employment for both CIE and for group employment.

³⁰Colorado officials reported that some individuals receiving Medicaid services for group employment during the transition away from 14(c) employment may have been working in 14(c) and, as a result, some of the decline in group employment may reflect individuals moving out of 14(c) employment.

Letter

	Competitive integrated employment (CIE): Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment: 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities: Non- residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services: Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job
2021 July	25	93	8	54
Aug	24	92	11	50
Sept	22	94	16	48
Oct	23	88	21	49
Nov	19	90	23	46
Dec	20	86	25	43
2022 Jan	23	81	28	42
Feb	23	74	32	44
March	24	72	39	40
April	25	73	42	38
May	29	74	40	36
June	32	71	45	27
July	31	65	43	30
Aug	36	55	47	30
Sept	42	57	43	27
Oct	45	49	55	21
Nov	44	48	56	21
Dec	46	44	60	21
2023 Jan	48	39	60	19
Feb	46	36	63	21
March	43	38	67	19
April	42	34	72	17
May	49	31	69	18
June	46	28	69	19

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. This figure includes individuals who were working in 14(c) employment and also may have been receiving Medicaid services immediately before the state's transition away from 14(c) employment began in July 2021. Individuals may have received more than one Medicaid service in any given month. To avoid double-counting, the figure shows each individual once per month in which they received any of the designated Medicaid services, in the following priority order: (1) supported employment for GIE, (2) supported employment for group employment, (3) employment preparation, or (4) day services or community activities. For example, a person receiving supported employment services for group employment may have also received day services during the same month, but this figure reflects their employment. See appendix I for more information on our data analysis, including additional analysis of certain individuals who received more than one service.

Put differently, for the 162 individuals remaining in Colorado's data as of June 2023, 46 percent were receiving Medicaid-funded supported employment services, including 28 percent working in CIE. The remaining individuals were not receiving employment services and were receiving either employment preparation services (12 percent) or day services (43 percent).³¹

³¹Due to rounding, these percentages do not equal 100. When combined, those receiving employment preparation and day services sum to 54 percent.

<u>Oregon</u>

Of the 1,875 individuals Oregon officials were tracking in September 2015, 18 percent were working in CIE (12 percent) or group employment (6 percent) with Medicaid-funded support in September 2023, according to the state's Medicaid service and EOS data.³² Another 28 percent were receiving employment preparation or day services, but not working. Finally, 54 percent were no longer included in the state's data as of September 2023 (see fig. 5). For more information on these individuals, see the subsequent question about why selected states were unable to track outcomes for certain people who formerly worked in 14(c) employment.





Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

³²As previously noted, Oregon tracks individuals with I/DD who were receiving supported employment services from Medicaid and identifies those who were paid less than minimum wage. See appendix I for more information on our analysis of Oregon data.

Letter

	Competitive integrated employment (CIE): Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment: 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities: Non- residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services: Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job	14(c) employment
Sept 2015	0	0	0	0	1875
Mar 2016	32	29	28	356	1373
Sept	56	60	56	402	1172
Mar 2017	92	71	96	432	1004
Sept	121	93	140	419	836
Mar 2018	156	107	177	363	730
Sept	161	117	228	402	556
Mar 2019	180	124	264	353	451
Sept	204	131	313	322	350
Mar 2020	215	133	324	339	235
Sept	163	63	180	488	24
Mar 2021	160	84	187	388	21
Sept	201	103	242	314	12
Mar 2022	219	100	266	278	10
Sept	234	102	285	232	15
Mar 2023	232	105	306	197	10
Sept	221	118	338	185	0

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. This figure includes 1,875 individuals with intellectual or developmental disabilities (I/DD) who were receiving Medicaid supported employment services in September 2015 and working for less than the Oregon minimum wage in 14(c) employment. Individuals may have received more than one Medicaid service in any given month. To avoid double-counting, the figure shows each individual once per month in which they received any of the designated Medicaid services, in the following priority order: (1) services for 14(c) employment, (2) supported employment for CIE, (3) supported employment for group employment, (4) employment preparation, or (5) day services or community activities. For example, a person receiving supported employment services for working in group employment may have also received day services, but this figure reflects their employment. See appendix I for more information on our data analysis, including additional analysis of certain individuals who received more than one service.

For the 862 former 14(c) workers that Oregon was able to track as of September 2023, 39 percent were receiving Medicaid-funded employment support services, including 26 percent working in CIE. The remaining individuals were not receiving employment services and were instead receiving either employment preparation services (21 percent) or day services (nearly 40 percent).

Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) Employment Outcomes in Oregon

In addition to Medicaid service data, VR data provide another picture of individuals' employment outcomes after the transition away from 14(c) employment.

Of the 1,875 individuals Oregon was tracking in September 2015:

• about 60 percent (or 1,100 people) had participated in VR by April 2024.

• of these, about 500 people had successfully closed cases (i.e., they found employment for at least 90 days).

The VR system tracks people intermittently after their cases are closed, and some people may choose not to return to Medicaid services after successfully completing VR services.

According to our analysis, 70 percent of the people who found competitive integrated employment through VR did not return to Medicaid for supported employment services.

Source: GAO analysis of Oregon VR data. | GAO-25-106471

Letter

For the individuals in our analysis, a decline in the use of Medicaid-funded employment services coincided with the COVID-19 pandemic and state-mandated increases in the minimum wage for people working in 14(c) employment.³³ As figure 5 shows, by September 2020, participation in 14(c) employment had fallen to near zero. At the same time, the share of individuals using employment services for CIE or group employment decreased.³⁴ Oregon state officials said that the pandemic generally had a significant impact across different services. However, our analysis could not isolate the ultimate cause of the declines we observed.³⁵ The use of employment services for CIE subsequently rebounded and grew slightly, but group employment levels did not recover to pre-pandemic levels during the period we analyzed.

We conducted additional analyses using individuals' baseline hourly wages in 14(c) employment and found that those with the highest 14(c) wages were the most likely to move to CIE after the transition away from 14(c) employment. Specifically, 23 percent of those with the highest hourly wages in September 2015 were receiving employment support services for CIE or group employment in September 2023, compared with 9 percent for those with the lowest baseline hourly wages (see fig. 6).³⁶ Individuals who earned the lowest hourly wages in September 2015 were more likely to participate in day services in September 2023 than those who earned the highest hourly wages. We previously reported that wages for people working in 14(c) employment may reflect differences between workers as well as employment opportunities, and that these factors can influence their movement into CIE.³⁷

³³As noted above, a provision of Oregon's law required that individuals working in 14(c) employment be paid at least \$9.25 an hour starting in July 2020. That increased to \$10.75 in July 2021 and \$12.50 in July 2022. As of July 2023, all workers must be paid at or above the state's minimum wage.

³⁴In March 2020, 11.5 percent of the 1,875 individuals Oregon was tracking in September 2015 were employed in a CIE job and 7.1 percent were employed in group employment. By September 2020, 8.7 percent were employed in a CIE job and 3.4 percent were employed in group employment.

³⁵Our analysis of Oregon's data was descriptive, and we did not control for any variables. Because we did not control for factors that could influence employment outcomes, we were not able to isolate the potential causes of the decline in employment services between March and September 2020.

³⁶In this analysis, we grouped individuals into quartiles based on their 14(c) hourly wages in September 2015 (i.e., lowest 25 percent, 26-50 percent, 51-75 percent, 76-100 percent). This wage information came from EOS and, as previously noted, our analysis excludes individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment and made higher than the state minimum wage. For more information on how we conducted our analysis and additional results, see appendix I.

³⁷See GAO-21-260 and GAO-23-105116.



Figure 6: Outcomes for Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment by Baseline Hourly Wage Level, September 2023

Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

	No longer tracked	Competitive integrated employment (CIE): Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment: 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities: Non- residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services: Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job
Less than \$2.08 (1st Quartile)	57	6	3	27	7
\$2.08 to \$3.93 (2nd Quartile)	55	11	7	17	9
\$3.94 to \$6.00 (3rd Quartile)	52	13	9	14	11
More than \$6.00 (4th Quartile)	53	17	6	13	11

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. This figure includes 1,875 individuals with intellectual or developmental disabilities (I/DD) who were receiving Medicaid supported employment services in September 2015 and working for less than the Oregon minimum wage in 14(c) employment. We grouped individuals into quartiles based on their hourly wages in 14(c) employment in September 2015 (i.e., lowest 25 percent, 26-50 percent, 51-75 percent, 76-100 percent). Individuals may have received more than one Medicaid service in any given month. To avoid double-counting, the figure shows each individual once per month in which they received any of the designated Medicaid services, in the following priority order: (1) supported employment for CIE, (2) supported employment for group employment, (3) employment preparation, or (4) day services or community activities. For example, a person receiving supported employment services for working in group employment may have also received day services, but this figure reflects their employment. Numbers may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding. See appendix I for more information on our data analysis, including additional analysis by September 2015 baseline 14(c) wage.

What were workers' wages and hours after transitioning out of 14(c) employment in selected states?

<u>Colorado</u>

Among those in Colorado who left 14(c) employment for another type of employment, average hourly wages increased compared to the overall average under 14(c) employment, which includes individuals regardless of their later employment status. In addition, average hours worked per week varied depending on the type of employment they moved to (see table 1).³⁸

	Average hourly wages	Average hours per week
Baseline: June 2021 14(c) data	\$4.33	13.0
195 people		
Transitioned to competitive integrated employment	\$12.92	10.4
47 people		
Transitioned to group employment ^a	\$12.56	14.7
49 people		
Transitioned to employment (overall) 96 people	\$12.74	12.5

Source: GAO analysis of Colorado's Department of Health Care Policy & Financing 2021 Data Report and Colorado's 14(c) tracking data. | GAO-25-106471

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. The information on hours and wages were reported by former 14(c) employers at various points between July 2021 and June 2023. In February 2024, state officials verified each employer's average wage and hour information. We did not adjust wages for inflation. From July 2021 to June 2023, prices on average increased 12 percent.

^aOne former 14(c) employer reported that five individuals who worked in 14(c) employment transitioned to group employment but did not report wages or hours for them. As a result, our calculations for group employment and overall employment reflect 44 of the 49 people who transitioned into group employment.

Oregon

In Oregon, average hourly wages in September 2023 increased compared to the overall average under 14(c) employment in September 2015, which includes individuals regardless of their later employment status. At the same time, average hours worked per week generally decreased for the individuals the state was tracking between September 2015 and September 2023 (see table 2).³⁹

³⁸In our Colorado analysis, the average wages and hours under 14(c) employment include all former 14(c) workers, regardless of their employment status after transitioning out of 14(c) employment. In contrast, averages in CIE and group employment do not reflect individuals who were not employed after leaving 14(c) employment, or for whom data were not available, and may not reflect overall trends for the entire group.

³⁹In our Oregon analysis, the average wages and hours under 14(c) employment in September 2015 include all former 14(c) workers, regardless of their employment status after transitioning out of 14(c) employment. In contrast, averages in CIE and group employment reflect only those workers who were employed and receiving employment services during that month (see table 2). As a result, the comparison does not account for individuals who were not employed after leaving 14(c) employment, or for whom data were not available, and may not reflect overall trends for the entire group.

Table 2: Average Wages and Hours Worked for Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, September 2015-September 2023

	Septembe	r 2015					
	(14(c) bas	eline)	Septembe	r 2019	September 2023		
	Average hourly wages	Average hours per week	Average hourly wages	Average hours per week	Average hourly wages	Average hours per week	
14(c) employment	\$4.01	16.0	\$5.70	14.6	-	-	
Competitive integrated employment			\$11.85	12.3	\$14.14	10.8	
Group employment			\$11.73	8.5	\$13.56	10.8	
Post-14(c) employment (overall)			\$11.79	10.5	\$13.93	10.8	

Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System data. | GAO-25-106471.

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. This table includes data for individuals with intellectual or developmental disabilities (I/DD) who were receiving Medicaid supported employment services in September 2015 and working for less than the Oregon minimum wage in 14(c) employment. Average wages and hours are based on those who received employment services in the month shown. The 2015 data includes all 1,875 individuals, but fewer people were working in September 2019 (685) and September 2023 (339). We did not adjust wages for inflation. From September 2015 to September 2023, prices on average increased 29 percent.

Why were selected states unable to track outcomes for certain people who used to work in 14(c) employment?

Colorado and Oregon officials primarily track employment and other outcomes for people who used to work in 14(c) employment based on their use of services funded by Medicaid, such as supported employment or day services, so they are not able to easily track outcomes for people who stop receiving those services. State officials and stakeholders identified several possible reasons that people may no longer receive these Medicaid services from the state, including that:

- they are no longer eligible for services (e.g., they have passed away or moved out of state);
- they retired from employment and chose not to participate in day services or similar community activities; or
- they are continuing in CIE with natural supports—personal associations and relationships developed in the community and at work—rather than Medicaid-funded supports.

We analyzed available state Medicaid data from Colorado and Oregon to better understand the extent to which outcomes for some former 14(c) workers are no longer tracked and, to the extent possible, why.

Colorado

As of the most recent data available in February 2024, Colorado officials were not able to use the state's Medicaid data to track employment outcomes for almost 20 percent of those who worked in 14(c) employment in July 2021.⁴⁰ Of those individuals, the state's data indicated that nearly half were no longer eligible for

⁴⁰We do not report the exact numbers of individuals in Colorado whose employment outcomes were not tracked, consistent with the state Medicaid agency's practice of not reporting on groups of fewer than 35 individuals due to protected health information.

Letter

Medicaid services in Colorado.⁴¹ We were not able to determine why the remaining individuals were not using Medicaid employment or day services in February 2024.

State Medicaid officials told us that other state data systems could provide more information on individuals' employment outcomes and activities, but that they face challenges sharing data across agencies. For example, people with disabilities who are not receiving Medicaid employment or day services may be instead receiving VR services to obtain a CIE job.⁴² Officials told us that they faced challenges trying to share data with other agencies, including VR, which could make it difficult to identify anyone who may be working in CIE without Medicaid supports after completing VR services.

<u>Oregon</u>

As of September 2023, Oregon officials were not able to use Medicaid data to track employment outcomes for 1,013 former 14(c) workers, or 54 percent of the individuals they began tracking in September 2015. Of those, a quarter were no longer eligible for Medicaid services, according to the state's data.

Oregon officials and stakeholders identified some additional reasons why they may no longer be able to track outcomes. Specifically, some former 14(c) workers may have decided to retire or may be continuing to work in CIE with natural supports. Using additional data the state provided, we estimated how many individuals may fall into these categories.

- About 17 percent of individuals whose outcomes were no longer being tracked in the Medicaid data were at least 62 years old when they exited the data and, therefore, possibly retired.⁴³
- Although we did not identify any data in Oregon to indicate whether an individual is continuing to work with
 natural supports, state officials said that Medicaid data offers potential insights. Specifically, officials told us
 that people who completed the full 2 years of Medicaid's CIE job coaching were likely continuing to work in
 their CIE positions with natural supports.⁴⁴ Our analysis found that this could explain up to 7 percent of the
 people who no longer appear in the data (see fig. 7).⁴⁵

⁴¹We did not make a determination about individuals' Medicaid eligibility. We relied on information provided by the states, including variables in the Medicaid data that showed individuals' final date of eligibility for services.

⁴²As previously noted, the VR program provides services that, among other things, help people with disabilities obtain CIE employment, including counseling and training. According to state officials, individuals receiving Medicaid must participate in the VR program to find and obtain a job, while some Medicaid employment preparation services are similar but used in situations in which there is a delay in the availability of VR services.

⁴³Many individuals who used to work in 14(c) employment receive SSI benefits. If they worked enough to be eligible for Social Security retirement benefits, they can begin receiving benefits as early as 62; if they are not eligible for retirement benefits, their SSI benefits would continue if eligible. Some individuals may have retired from Medicaid-funded supported employment services while still receiving day services; they are not included here because they continued to receive services.

⁴⁴State officials explained that Oregon's Medicaid-funded CIE job coaching services are designed to last 2 years, during which time the amount of support provided is meant to fade out until the services are no longer needed. For more information, see appendix I.

⁴⁵Officials told us that others may also have continued to work in their CIE positions without Medicaid supported employment services, but this was less likely than for those who completed their full allotment of CIE job coaching.



Figure 7: Outcomes Among Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, September 2023

Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying individuals with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. This figure includes 1,875 individuals with intellectual or developmental disabilities (I/DD) who were receiving Medicaid supported employment services in September 2015 and working for less than the Oregon minimum wage in 14(c) employment. See appendix I for more information on our data analysis, including how we identified individuals who may have retired or were likely continuing to work in competitive integrated employment (CIE) after completing job coaching.

Finally, individuals who do not appear in the Medicaid data could have instead received services from VR. According to officials, individuals generally receive employment preparation services through Medicaid and use VR services for supports to find a job in CIE. Individuals who obtain CIE jobs through VR may choose not to return for CIE job coaching provided through Medicaid. According to our analysis, 70 percent of the approximately 500 people who found CIE jobs through VR did not return for supported employment services provided through Medicaid between September 2015 and September 2023.

Perspectives of Individuals Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment and Their Caregivers

What did individuals and their caregivers in selected states say about the individuals' prior experience in 14(c) employment?

Individuals and their caregivers we interviewed talked about both positive and challenging experiences with 14(c) employment. However, more individuals discussed positive experiences than challenging experiences.⁴⁶ They most frequently mentioned liking the tasks they completed, the interpersonal relationships they had with coworkers and staff, and earning a wage.⁴⁷ Other things individuals said they liked included the skill growth opportunities available and the sense of contribution they felt while working. However, they also reported challenges related to the tasks they completed, interpersonal relationships, and issues related to employment services they accessed.

Tasks and responsibilities. Individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment talked about liking the duties they completed, such as vacuuming or cleaning bathrooms. Similarly, caregivers also reported that the individual liked the tasks they completed because they aligned with the individual's interests. For example, one person's parents told us their son vacuumed as a part of his janitorial duties, which they said was his favorite hobby. His mother also said that his former 14(c) employer "[was] really good about letting him do what he liked to do." However, we also heard from another individual who described her janitorial duties as "dirty work." In addition, other individuals said they did not like the physical aspects of their 14(c) job, such as standing for long periods of time, or shared concerns about the safety of the tasks they completed. Finally, other caregivers said that some of the tasks the individuals completed at their 14(c) jobs did not align with their skill levels or interests.

Examples of Tasks and Responsibilities Performed by People Who Worked in 14(c) Employment

⁴⁶Sixteen of the 19 individuals we interviewed discussed positive experiences they had with their 14(c) employment, and 10 out of 19 individuals talked about challenges. Five of the 13 caregivers or pairs of caregivers who participated in the interviews discussed positive experiences the individuals had with their 14(c) employment. These five caregivers discussed seven individuals, because in two instances a caregiver was present to support two individuals. Five caregivers talked about challenges. Because we interviewed a small number of people and not every person offered comments on each topic, we do not quantify the number of people who identified specific positive or challenging experiences. In this report, we generally discuss in detail topics that arose during three or more interviews. The information from interviews presented in this report reflects the perspectives of individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers and is not generalizable to all individuals who worked in 14(c) employment in these states or in other states.

⁴⁷For more information about how we identified the themes and subthemes we discuss, see appendix I.

Letter



Source: GAO file photo. | GAO-25-107024 Note: This employer was not located in our selected states.

Interpersonal relationships. Individuals and their caregivers who reported having positive experiences with interpersonal relationships at their 14(c) jobs said that they liked seeing people they knew, such as their peers or supervisors. One caregiver said her son "made lifelong friends" at his 14(c) job. In contrast, individuals also discussed issues they had working with others who were not nice to them or who they thought created an uncomfortable environment.

Earning a wage. Individuals also cited positive experiences related to their wages. For instance, they said they liked earning a wage and being able to save money to spend on things they liked. One person talked about using the money he saved to buy new shoes.

Employment services. Individuals also cited challenges related to a lack of training available to them and a dissatisfaction with the quality of employment services they received. For instance, one person said, "The [job coaches] would make promises, [but] they never really helped me with anything. They never kept track of anything. They wanted me to do this and that, and they wanted me to do stuff that I didn't want to do."

In Their Words: Perspectives on Prior 14(c) Employment

"I liked working with my hands in woodwork." - Individual who previously worked in 14(c) employment

"A lot of the stuff that he was doing at the beginning [when he was working in 14(c) employment] would help strengthen his hands because he has weakness on the left side. [The things he did] would help him with the mobility of [his hands]." – *Caregiver*

"That type of sheltered workplace...I don't think it was really the right fit for me overall, just because of my aptitudes of getting higher up. And also, having to travel back and forth and then getting paid less than minimum wage wasn't really worth my time." – *Individual who previously worked in 14(c) employment*

"I think he tried a couple of sheltered workshop kind of things, and they weren't very meaningful because he was more capable than what they were doing." – Caregiver

Source: GAO interviews with individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers. | GAO-25-106471

Note: We selected these comments because they provide real-life examples of the common themes identified through our content analysis of the interviews we conducted. In some cases, we edited responses for clarity or readability.

What did individuals and their caregivers in selected states say about the transition out of 14(c) employment?

Individuals and their caregivers we interviewed discussed various opportunities and challenges they experienced during the transition out of 14(c) employment, such as how the individuals' social connections had been affected since transitioning out of their 14(c) jobs or their experiences finding CIE jobs.

Other Opportunities for Social Connection

Outside of work and day services, individuals and their caregivers talked about participating in activities, such as camp, church, or community-based committees or organizations, as well as caregiver-organized outings and events. For instance, three people talked about being involved in various types of advocacy work. Another person said he played basketball for his state's Special Olympics team and went to the Special Olympics USA Games. People also talked about romantic relationships, relationships with neighbors, and relationships they had in their communities. Source: GAO interviews with individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers. | GAO-25-106471.

Social connections. Individuals and their caregivers talked about making new social connections or maintaining old connections. For instance, everyone we interviewed who transitioned to CIE talked about the social connections they made with people at work.⁴⁸ They talked about how various work functions, such as holiday parties and gift exchanges, helped them build social connections. Individuals also talked about connecting with coworkers outside of work by going out to eat or to the movies or playing video games. Some people also said they maintained relationships with their former 14(c) coworkers through their day service programs and providers, or through their CIE job.

On the other hand, we also heard from caregivers and one individual who said the individual's social circle had shrunk since transitioning out of 14(c) employment. For instance, they talked about how the individuals' former coworkers were no longer attending the same day service provider. Generally, those who had this perspective were caregivers of individuals who were not employed but were attending day services. In addition, other individuals said they were not inclined to stay in contact with their former 14(c) coworkers.

Day services. Individuals who accessed day services after transitioning out of 14(c) employment talked about positive experiences they had, such as the classes and activities available, the outings they participated in, and the interpersonal relationships they had with staff and others who accessed day services. People said they enjoyed classes such as science, art, and cooking. They also talked about individualized and group outings their day service providers coordinated, including attending sports games or movies, going to museums or animal shelters, and trips

Example of Activities Coordinated by Day Service Providers



⁴⁸We interviewed 11 people who previously worked in 14(c) employment and transitioned to CIE.

Source: GAO. | GAO-25-107024 Note: This provider was not located in our selected states

to explore cities nearby. Day service providers also coordinated larger events such as dances, fundraisers, plays, and holiday parties. Finally, people talked about how they got along with everybody at their day services, or said they liked being able to see people they knew regularly at day services. One person told us, "I'm [re-writing] a book for [my friend] because sometimes the words are too small, and he likes to [read]. So [now,] he can read it better without giving himself a headache."

At the same time, individuals and caregivers also discussed challenges related to accessing day services after transitioning out of 14(c) employment. For instance, one individual said she was on a waiting list to increase the number of days she could attend her day services program. Two caregivers, whose sons attended the same day services facility, discussed how their sons' skill development had been affected since the service provider transitioned from 14(c) employment to day services. For instance, one of these caregivers said she had observed small regressions in her son's skills—such as misspelling his name—since his day service provider limited the number of days he was able to access day services. She said, "I think [his skills regressed] because there wasn't an everyday progression of doing stuff...They used to do t-shirts and stuff like that, and I don't think they do that anymore." These caregivers said that the day service facility their sons attended had been affected by decreases in funding and staffing levels.

Finding CIE opportunities. Individuals who transitioned to CIE told us about how they obtained their job, including through support from job coaches or their own research. For others, their former 14(c) employer converted to provide CIE. People who transitioned to CIE talked about opportunities they experienced since obtaining their job, including chances to work in various departments, potential new employment opportunities, or pathways for taking on additional responsibilities at work, such as receiving a promotion. For instance, one person said he recently took over managing inventory for two products at his job.

At the same time, individuals who transitioned to CIE and those who had not transitioned to CIE talked about challenges related to finding CIE opportunities. Specifically, individuals and their caregivers said it was challenging to find CIE opportunities that matched the individual's interests or addressed the individual's or caregiver's needs. For instance, one person said, "It took me a while [to find a job]. I had to look and look and look because I didn't want [to work in] any grocery stores. I wanted [to work in] restaurants." Caregivers also discussed logistical needs and safety concerns. For example, they talked about challenges finding jobs nearby and finding accessible public transportation to get to work.

Further, with respect to challenges finding CIE opportunities, individuals and their caregivers commented that people with disabilities have a wide range of interests and needs, and there should be more support for various types of employment, not just CIE. For instance, one parent of an individual said, "One of the biggest concerns we have about the changes [is that they] don't really cover everybody, they only cover a small population. No whole population of [people with intellectual or developmental disabilities] is going to function at the same level." The other parent added, "There needs to be options. And they need to have a say in it."

In Their Words: Experiences During or After the Transition Out of 14(c) Employment

"[I like] just being around my peers and my [day service] staff and my [former 14(c) and CIE] work peers here at the day program." – Individual who previously worked in 14(c) employment

"Wednesday night is [social night]. One of the providers picks up [a few] people and takes them to [a nearby city] for activities." - Caregiver

"Not everyone is the same. And when they made this blanket change, they made the change for everyone, and maybe they could have done it in phases or something. I don't know. I feel like they could have approached it a little different because there's always this thing where they just kind of group people with disabilities together. But somebody with autism is not going to have the same needs as somebody with Down syndrome. And then even two people with autism aren't going to have the same needs. [When I was in 14(c) employment, I had co-workers] that were autistic, non-verbal, but they can read, they can write. They could do their job. They just needed a different form of communication. And I feel like those are [some] of the people that kind of got hurt the most by [the transition away from 14(c) employment]." – *Individual who previously worked in 14(c) employment*

"The [14(c) job] [was] more of a controlled environment that they were going to. There was an understanding of those who were working there that the staff were able to work with [the employees] more. The [staff] were trained on how to deal with things that might come up, but in [CIE] they're well-meaning, but they don't always get it." – *Caregiver*

Employment support services. While some individuals had positive experiences accessing employment support services, others talked about issues accessing these services when they transitioned out of 14(c) employment. For instance, one person talked about challenges he experienced working with the local VR office. He said, "It would have been nice if VR was more up to speed...They were like in a holding pattern. Well, the longer it takes, [then] the opportunity may not be there." He chose to pursue employment without the help of VR services. He applied directly to the employer and was hired.

Source: GAO interviews with individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers. | GAO-25-106471

Note: We selected these comments because they provide real-life examples of the common themes identified through our content analysis of the interviews we conducted. In some cases, we edited responses for clarity or readability.

What did individuals and their caregivers in selected states say about their experiences with CIE?

Example of a Competitive Integrated Employment (CIE) Workplace



Source: GAO. | GAO-25-107024

Individuals we interviewed who transitioned to CIE from 14(c) employment talked about both positive and challenging experiences they had with CIE. However, more individuals shared positive experiences with their CIE job than challenging experiences.⁴⁹ Similar to what they said about their 14(c) jobs, people in CIE said they liked the interpersonal relationships they had at work, the tasks they completed, the skill growth opportunities available, and earning a wage. Aside from common themes addressed below, individuals also said they liked the sense of contribution they felt from doing their job, the ability to work independently, and the discounts they received on products sold at their workplaces. At the same time, those who discussed challenges reported issues related to interpersonal relationships, the tasks they completed, and the employment services available.

⁴⁹Eleven of the 19 individuals we interviewed talked about the positive experiences they had with CIE and seven individuals discussed challenges they experienced with CIE. Five of the 13 caregivers or pairs of caregivers who participated in the interviews discussed positive experiences the individual had with CIE, and two caregivers talked about challenges.

Interpersonal relationships. As previously discussed, individuals said they liked the interpersonal relationships they had at work, including with colleagues and customers. For instance, one person said, "I love the people. I like coming in, seeing their faces, talking to them, [and] helping them out." Conversely, individuals and their caregivers also said it could, at times, be challenging to work with others. One person said it was difficult to work with new people until she learned their communication styles.

Tasks and responsibilities. Individuals also discussed the specific tasks they liked, such as cleaning and putting boxes together for baked goods. One person said she liked "working [in the] pet and toy [departments]" of the store. Another individual told us that she liked all the tasks she completed in her CIE position, including setting tables. On the other hand, other people said they did not like tasks such as cleaning bathrooms or stocking shelves.

Skill growth opportunities. Individuals discussed liking the skill growth opportunities available at their CIE job, such as working on their social skills. One person told us he liked having opportunities to overcome challenges at work. He said one of the challenges he worked to overcome was interpersonal conflicts with coworkers. He told us what helped him was learning to stay patient and "[to try to] get to know that they have struggles as well, and also try to help them as best as you can."

Earning a wage. Other individuals talked about how they liked being paid for the hours they worked rather than at a piece rate, and one person talked about the financial autonomy she experienced.⁵⁰ She said, "I can pay my own bills instead of [my sister]. It's my own time and [I] got my own house." Caregivers also discussed the individual's financial autonomy, including being able to purchase their own groceries and travel.

Employment services. Individuals talked about challenging experiences they had with employment services, such as the quality of the match between the individual and their job coach. For instance, one individual and her sister, who was her caregiver, talked about how the individual has had multiple job coaches because there was not always a good personality match between her and her job coach. A case manager for another individual said, "Sometimes, the job coaches that they hire aren't really as effective at helping the people. So that's frustrating to [her]. One, she feels like [her co-worker] is not getting the help they need. But also, it's frustrating when that person doesn't know what to do."

In Their Words: Experiences with Competitive Integrated Employment (CIE)

"My job is great, [it] makes me feel fantastic." - Individual who previously worked in 14(c) employment

"They treat them very well there and he has a lot of good friendships and stuff like that." - Caregiver

"Every once in a while, [someone else's] job coach would boss me around. And no, it's not how it works. I just ignore it." – Individual who previously worked in 14(c) employment

"I think you had-just like any other job-you have testy people to put up with." - Caregiver

Source: GAO interviews with individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers. | GAO-25-106471

Note: We selected these comments because they provide real-life examples of the common themes identified through our content analysis of the interviews we conducted. In some cases, we edited responses for clarity or readability.

⁵⁰Employers holding a 14(c) certificate may pay employees on a piece-rate basis where wages are paid based on the number of units a person produces or tasks a person completes, rather than the time they work.

What did individuals who worked in CIE and their caregivers in selected states say about impacts to the individuals' federal means-tested benefits?

Individuals and their caregivers we interviewed said they were aware of how their federal means-tested benefits could possibly be impacted by their work in CIE. Most individuals and their caregivers mentioned fears or concerns about how increases to the individual's income or assets could affect benefits they received, such as Supplemental Security Income (SSI) or Medicaid.⁵¹ In particular, fears or concerns about potential impacts to the individual's SSI benefits were common.

Income limits. Individuals and their caregivers told us that their fears or concerns about the potential impacts to the individual's benefits factored into decisions they made about employment. For instance, in one interview, an individual and his parents discussed concerns about how small or temporary increases in wages could decrease his monthly SSI benefits. The Social Security Administration calculates a person's benefits each month using a formula in which benefits are generally reduced by \$1 for every \$2 of earned income (which excludes the first \$65 earned each month) until benefits reach zero.⁵² As a result of these concerns, this individual and his parents were hesitant about taking on additional shifts, such as when a co-worker called in sick. Another person talked about how increasing the number of days she worked had decreased her monthly SSI benefits to help make her rent payments.

Among those who shared concerns about potential impacts to Medicaid, concerns included losing access to services supported by an individual's Medicaid benefits or being deemed ineligible for Medicaid benefits completely.⁵³ However, in each case, the individual or the caregiver told us they were able to access another program through Medicaid to receive support or had access to another health care plan. One of these people said she lost her SSI when she was hired as a full-time employee, but she retained her Medicaid coverage.⁵⁴

Asset limits. Individuals and their caregivers also talked about how the asset limits for SSI benefits factored into decisions they made, including employment decisions. For instance, we heard from individuals and caregivers who said the individual has, at times, needed to spend money they had saved because their SSI could be impacted if their savings surpassed the maximum threshold for assets, which is \$2,000 for

⁵¹Eight of the 11 individuals we interviewed who worked in CIE or their caregivers discussed their fears or concerns about how increases to the individual's income or assets could affect benefits the individual received.

⁵²In addition, an individual's or married couple's countable income must be less than the federal SSI benefit rate of \$943 for an individual and \$1,415 for a married couple in 2024. If SSI beneficiaries receive no benefits for 12 consecutive months due to their earned income, they are regarded as removed from the rolls.

⁵³According to state documents, both Colorado and Oregon offer a Medicaid buy-in program, which provides states the option to offer Medicaid coverage to individuals with disabilities and impose premiums or other cost sharing on a sliding scale based on income.

⁵⁴In some cases, people can retain their Medicaid even if they become ineligible for SSI because of their earned income. People continue to remain eligible for Medicaid if they meet certain criteria, including having a disability or meeting all other SSI eligibility requirements, except for the amount of their earnings. States, however, may set different income levels for eligibility for this program. See https://www.ssa.gov/ssi/spotlights/spot-medicaid.htm.

individuals.⁵⁵ Each individual who said their federal benefits had not been impacted by their transition to CIE had an Achieving a Better Life Experience (ABLE) account, which is a tax-advantaged savings account for people with disabilities that often does not count toward SSI's asset limit.⁵⁶ In contrast, among those who considered the potential impacts to their benefits when making employment decisions, individuals and caregivers frequently did not know about ABLE accounts.⁵⁷ We also heard from one person with an ABLE account who was still concerned about how increases to his income or assets could impact his benefits. Finally, individuals and their caregivers said the individual would consider taking on additional hours if their benefits would not be impacted.⁵⁸

We provided a draft of this report to the Departments of Education, Labor, and Health and Human Services for review and comment. We also provided relevant portions of the draft report to cognizant officials within the Colorado Department of Health Care Policy and Financing and the Oregon Department of Human Services. The Departments of Education and Labor and Colorado and Oregon state officials provided technical comments, which we incorporated as appropriate. The Department of Health and Human Services did not provide comments on the report.

If you or your staff have any questions about this report, please contact me at EWISInquiry@gao.gov. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of this report. GAO staff who made key contributions to this report are listed in appendix IV.



Elizabeth H. Curda Director Education, Workforce, and Income Security

⁵⁵SSI considers a person's resources to help determine their eligibility for benefits. If an individual's countable resources are over the allowable limit at the beginning of the month, the individual cannot receive SSI for that month. The limit for an individual is currently set at \$2,000 and has not been updated or adjusted for inflation since 1989, according to the Social Security Administration. For more information, see https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/statcomps/supplement/2024/index.html.

⁵⁶Federal law allows states to create tax-advantaged savings programs for eligible people with disabilities, under which individuals can open ABLE savings accounts. Funds from ABLE savings accounts may be used to save for specific expenses related to an individual's disability.

⁵⁷Six of the eight people we interviewed who discussed fears or concerns related to effects to the individual's benefits considered the potential effects on their benefits when making employment decisions. Four of these six people did not know about ABLE accounts and a fifth individual's caregiver said she was looking into opening an ABLE account.

⁵⁸Those who said they had fears and concerns about potential effects on their benefits generally worked a similar number of hours (between 4 and 15 hours per week) as individuals who said their benefits had not been impacted since moving into a CIE position.

Appendix I: Objectives, Scope, and Methodology

This report examines: (1) which states have enacted legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) certificates and are collecting data on employment outcomes for people who worked in the program, (2) employment outcomes in selected states for people who worked in the program, and (3) the views of people and their caregivers in selected states about their transition out of 14(c) employment, including opportunities and challenges.

Identifying States That Have Enacted Legislation Eliminating 14(c)

For our first objective, we obtained information on which states had enacted legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) certificates as of January 2025.¹ To identify states, we relied on information from Department of Labor (DOL) officials; four experts on the employment of people with disabilities and related state data; four key stakeholder organizations; and publicly available sources such as state websites and information from the Association of People Supporting Employment First and the Council of State Governments. We selected experts based on their academic research, policy expertise, and knowledge of state legislation and data collection. Experts included researchers who have published on the use of 14(c) certificates and/or transition out of 14(c) employment and stakeholders included representatives of organizations that work with 14(c) workers and employers.² We excluded states that have taken indirect steps to reduce the use of 14(c) employment, but have not enacted legislation.

We sent questionnaires to cognizant officials in 16 states asking them to confirm or correct information we gathered, such as whether they are collecting data on employment outcomes. We pretested our questionnaire by meeting with three states to solicit feedback about whether the questions were clear and concise. We received responses from all states we queried. See appendix II for a summary of this information.

State Selection

We also used information from our first objective to select states to serve as illustrative examples for our other two objectives. Our criteria for state selection included:

- availability of reliable, relevant individual-level data on employment outcomes for affected individuals, ideally covering before, during, and after the transition away from 14(c) employment;
- ongoing transition or recent completion so that (a) individuals who transitioned out of 14(c) employment were
 more likely to recall their experiences, and (b) state officials involved in the transition were more likely to still
 be in their positions;
- a significant number of individuals working under 14(c) certificates at the time of transition (which we defined as a minimum of 150 individuals); and

¹We did not conduct an independent legal search to find such legislation.

²Specifically, we interviewed representatives from the following organizations: Coalition for the Preservation of Employment Choice, Association of People Supporting Employment First, American Network of Community Options and Resources, and the National Association of State Directors of Developmental Disabilities Services.

variation in geography and state minimum wage rates (obtained from DOL's website), where possible.

To help identify states that had eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates and met these criteria, we sent written requests for information and conducted interviews, when possible, with six states to make our final decisions. We initially selected three states that met our criteria: Colorado, Maryland, and Oregon. These states had multiple years of relevant data on outcomes and had eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates recently enough that individuals who formerly worked in the program and their caregivers would be more likely to easily recount their experiences with the transition out of 14(c) employment. However, Maryland officials declined to participate in in-depth interviews or share data at an individual level, citing staff capacity issues at the state's Developmental Disabilities Administration. We were unable to select a suitable replacement as the remaining states did not meet our criteria. For example, some states had not yet started collecting data or had few workers left in 14(c) employment at the time the state enacted its legislation, according to state officials.

Analysis of State Data

To understand employment outcomes for individuals who used to work in 14(c) employment, we obtained and analyzed data provided at the individual level by the two states that met our criteria and agreed to participate in our study (Colorado and Oregon). These data generally covered the time periods during which each state was eliminating the use of 14(c) certificates. To add context to our findings and better understand the landscape of each selected state, we interviewed relevant state agency officials, such as those from developmental disability agencies, and other stakeholders involved in efforts to transition away from 14(c) employment. We selected these five stakeholders—self-advocates, provider organizations, and a parent advocacy group—based on discussions with state officials, national organizations, and experts on disability employment.³ In addition, with respect to our analysis of wages, we measured inflation over our study periods using national Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers data.

Colorado Data

We analyzed two types of data obtained from state officials to understand employment and other outcomes for individuals who formerly worked in 14(c) employment in Colorado. These data included information about those individuals' initial placements after leaving 14(c) employment and, for most, their longer-term use of Medicaid-funded supported employment and day services.

First, we obtained individual- and summary-level tracking data submitted by the nine employers that held 14(c) certificates immediately before the state's legislation eliminating the use of 14(c) certificates went into effect on July 1, 2021. The data covered 195 individuals and included information such as the date when they left 14(c) employment, the type of employment [competitive integrated employment (CIE), or group employment] or other service they participated in immediately after 14(c) employment, and, for those who obtained CIE or group employment, the number of hours worked weekly and their hourly wage.⁴ The individual-level data were collected between July 2021 and June 2023. State officials told us that in February 2024, they verified summary-level information with each of the nine employers, making corrections or updates as needed.

³These stakeholders and parent organization included Alliance Colorado, FACT Oregon, and the Oregon Resource Association.

⁴Group employment refers to employment in small groups of two to eight people with disabilities making at least the minimum wage.

Second, we obtained available, anonymized monthly Medicaid utilization data for a large subset of the 195 individuals in the tracking data, covering January 2021 through February 2024, which allowed us to look at trends in overall service usage over time.⁵ For analysis of outcomes, we generally relied on data from July 2021 through June 2023 to align with the tracking data discussed above. To avoid double-counting individuals receiving more than one service, we assigned each person to a single activity using the following order of Medicaid services:

- 1. supported employment for CIE,
- 2. supported employment for group employment,
- 3. employment preparation services (services that help people obtain employment, including counseling or training, or services that teach general concepts for being successful at work),
- 4. day services or community-based activities (non-residential programs to assist with self-help, socialization, and adaptive skills), and
- 5. outcome not tracked, which applies to any individuals for whom there is no record of any services provided in the designated month.

This ordering ensured that we captured any CIE or group employment supported by Medicaid services, to provide insight into how many people continued to work after leaving 14(c) employment. For any individuals who were receiving more than one service in a given month, we classified them by the service that comes highest in the above list. For example, a person who was receiving supported employment services for CIE and was also in day services would be classified as in CIE. Similarly, a person who was in employment preparation services. For our analysis of individuals whose outcomes were not tracked, we used data from February 2024 (the most recent data available to us).

Because day services are an important part of Medicaid-funded support services for most individuals who worked in 14(c) employment, we conducted analyses to identify how many individuals used day services overall.⁶ In February 2024, nearly 70 percent of the 195 individuals Colorado began tracking in July 2021 were using day services, including one-third who were also receiving supported employment services for CIE or group employment (see fig. 8 below).

⁵About 5 percent of those who used to work in 14(c) employment were not tracked because they were (1) not eligible for supported employment services under their type of Medicaid waiver, or (2) receiving services through a state-funded program that is not tracked in the Medicaid data system, according to state officials.

⁶Our prior work found that day services were one of the top Medicaid support service expenditures in 2019 among five of the six selected states. See GAO-23-105457.


Figure 8: Overall Use of Medicaid Funded Day Services and Employment Supports among Coloradans Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, February 2024

Source: GAO analysis of Colorado's Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

Note: Supported employment services refer to Medicaid services such as coaching for those in competitive integrated employment or group employment.

Colorado Data Reliability

For both data sets described above, we assessed the reliability of selected variables by conducting electronic data tests for completeness and accuracy, reviewing documentation, and interviewing knowledgeable officials about how the data were collected and maintained and their appropriate uses. Through this process, we identified some limitations of the data and, where needed, applied measures to mitigate the effect of the limitations (see below).

For Colorado's 14(c) employment tracking data, we identified the following limitations:

- The data represent where each person went as of the date they left 14(c) employment, which generally occurred between July 2021 and June 2023. State officials said they did not require employers to continue to track workers after these placements. As a result, the data do not provide information on any subsequent changes in employment, wages, or other outcomes.
- The data capture one outcome for each individual, with a priority on employment. As a result, the data capture the employment each individual engaged in and, if not employed, the non-employment services or activities individuals received. For example, a person working in group employment may also have received day services, but the data reflects their employment.
- Individual wages and hours were not included for all those who moved from 14(c) employment to other employment. In particular, the data included individual-level wages and hours for less than half of people in group employment. As a result, we determined that those data were not sufficiently reliable for us to analyze. Instead, we relied on summary-level data confirmed for each employer by the state for our analysis. We used

the employer-level summary data to calculate weighted averages of hours worked and hourly wages by type of post-14(c) employment.⁷

For Colorado's Medicaid utilization data, we identified the following limitations:

- Due to Colorado's definitions for individual and group supported employment services (specifically, job coaching) during the time period of our analysis, it is not possible to cleanly split the individual and group services into CIE and group employment. State officials explained that they report individual job coaching as CIE, but that there are people working in a group setting who were receiving individual job coaching for line-of-sight supervision, a one-to-one service. Conversely, there may be some people receiving group job coaching who are in CIE. Because there is no way identify those individuals, we followed Colorado's approach and reported individual coaching as CIE and group coaching as group employment.
- Medicaid utilization data were not available for a small percentage (less than 5 percent) of the 195 individuals included in the 14(c) tracking data discussed above. Specifically, they were not tracked because they were (1) not receiving supported employment services under their type of Medicaid waiver, or (2) receiving services through a state-funded program that is not tracked in the Medicaid data system, according to state officials.

Despite these limitations and in conjunction with the steps we took to address the limitations listed above, we determined that the data were sufficiently reliable for the purpose of analyzing available data on employment outcomes for individuals who used to work in 14(c) employment in Colorado.

Oregon Data

We analyzed three types of anonymized data obtained from state officials to understand employment and other outcomes for individuals who used to work in 14(c) employment in Oregon. This included data from Employment Outcome System (EOS), as well as Medicaid service and Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) case data. These data generally covered September 2015 through September 2023, including the use of Medicaid services for supported employment and day services, as well as use of VR services to seek and obtain CIE.

Employment Outcomes System data. First, we obtained data from EOS, which covers individuals with intellectual or developmental disabilities (I/DD) that were receiving supported employment services through Oregon's Medicaid program. The data were collected every year on service usage in March and September, and cover September 2015 to September 2023. EOS includes information on the types of supported employment services each person received, along with data on wages earned and the number of hours worked for those who were employed.⁸ Each record is associated with a different supported employment service, and individuals can receive multiple services per month. The data also included a flag for when someone was paid less than minimum wage.

https://hcpf.colorado.gov/sites/hcpf/files/Elimination%20of%20Subminimum%20Wage-Annual%20Report-March%202024.pdf.

⁷Our results were similar to what Colorado published in a March 2024 report, which relied on the same tracking data. We used a different approach to average the employer responses. To calculate the weighted average, we assigned each employer a weight based on the number of individuals who formerly worked for the employer under 14(c) and transitioned to the type of employment. See Colorado Department of Health Care Policy and Financing's report, "Colorado Elimination of Subminimum Wage: Annual Report to the Public" (March 2024):

⁸Because Oregon collects EOS information for the entire month, the source data we received included the number of hours each person worked in the entire month. We divided the monthly hours worked by 4 to adjust it to weekly hours worked.

We used EOS data to identify 1,875 individuals with I/DD who were working for less than the state minimum wage in September 2015; this group became the study population throughout our analysis of Oregon data. It is possible for individuals with other disabilities to work in 14(c) employment and for those working in 14(c) employment to earn more than the minimum wage but less than the prevailing wage (the average wage paid to similarly employed workers in the same occupation in the local area). However, we have previously reported that most people who worked in 14(c) employment in August 2021 had I/DD.⁹ In addition, we previously found a small percentage of people in 14(c) employment in states like Oregon with minimum wages higher than the national minimum wage who earned at or above the state's minimum wage.¹⁰

Medicaid services data. Second, we obtained available monthly Medicaid utilization data for the same group, covering July 2015 through September 2023. The Medicaid utilization data contained much of the same information as the EOS data, including the use of supported employment services and employment preparation services. It also contained information on use of day services, which was not in EOS. However, it did not include any wage data for employment.

Our analysis of employment and other outcomes for individuals combined EOS and Medicaid utilization data to provide a fuller picture of how many people were working in supported employment and receiving employment preparation and day services. To avoid double-counting individuals receiving more than one service, we developed an approach to classify individuals by a single activity using the following order of Medicaid services:

- 1. supported employment services for 14(c) employment,
- 2. supported employment services for CIE, including anyone receiving "on the job attendant care"¹¹,
- 3. supported employment services for group employment,
- 4. employment preparation services,
- 5. day services, including community-based activities, and
- 6. outcome not tracked, which applies to any individuals for whom there is no record of any services provided in the designated month.

This ordering ensured that we captured any employment supported by Medicaid services, to provide insight into how many people were employed. For any individuals who were receiving more than one service in a given month, we classified them by the service that comes highest in the above list. For example, a person who was receiving services related to CIE and was also in receiving day services would be classified as in CIE. Similarly, a person who was receiving employment preparation services and day services would be classified as receiving employment preparation services.

⁹Specifically, our prior work found that an estimated 90 percent of individuals working in 14(c) employment nationwide at community rehabilitation programs, the most common type of employer in August 2021, had I/DD. See GAO, *Subminimum Wage Program: DOL Could Do More to Ensure Timely Oversight*, GAO-23-105116 (Washington, D.C.; January 2023).

¹⁰We analyzed wages paid under 14(c) employment using Department of Labor data on certified 14(c) renewal applications submitted from August 26, 2019, through December 30, 2021, and found that 3.5 percent of 14(c) workers in states with higher minimum wages earned their respective states' minimum or above in 2019. See GAO-23-105116.

¹¹"On the job attendant care" is an infrequently used service that provides individuals working in CIE with needed supports related to daily living activities but does not include job coaching.

While this classification technique is similar to what we used for Colorado's Medicaid utilization data, the primary difference is that individuals remain classified in 14(c) employment in any month in which they have a record associated with a 14(c) job. By comparison, in Colorado, there was no way to identify which individuals in the Medicaid data were working in 14(c) employment for each month because Medicaid does not contain wage data. Therefore, anyone who was working in 14(c) employment and was also receiving any Medicaid services listed above would be classified as working in a 14(c) position.

For individuals who were no longer included in the Medicaid services data, we conducted additional analysis to determine how many fell into the various categories of reasons that Oregon officials identified. Specifically, we identified people who may be in the following categories:

- <u>No longer eligible for Medicaid services.</u> We used two variables in the Medicaid service data (date of death and end date of eligibility) to identify individuals who were no longer living or who were otherwise no longer eligible for Medicaid.
- <u>Possibly retired.</u> We used date of birth in the Medicaid service data to identify individuals who were age 62 or older when they disappeared from the Medicaid services data during our period of analysis.
- <u>Likely still working after completing CIE job coaching.</u> We used EOS data to identify individuals who had
 received four or more consecutive periods of CIE coaching services, which corresponds to 2 or more years.
 According to Oregon officials, people who complete the 2-year CIE coaching program are likely still working in
 their CIE job, but no longer receiving supported employment services.

Similar to our analyses for Colorado, we also analyzed how many individuals used Medicaid-funded day services overall in Oregon.¹² In September 2023, 27 percent of the individuals Oregon was tracking in September 2015 were using day services, including 6 percent who were also receiving supported employment services for CIE or group employment (see fig. 9 below).

Figure 9: Overall Use of Medicaid Funded Day Services and Supported Employment Among Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment, September 2023



Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

¹²Our prior work found that day services were one of the top Medicaid support service expenditures in 2019 among selected states. See GAO-23-105457.

Note: Supported employment services refer to, for example, Medicaid-funded job coaching for those in competitive integrated employment or group employment.

Finally, we conducted additional analyses to understand whether employment and other outcomes varied by baseline 14(c) wage level. Our main findings are discussed in the body of the report. We observed similar effects across the time period we examined (see fig. 10).¹³

¹³In particular, we generally found that from September 2015 to September 2023, those with the highest initial 14(c) wages were the most likely to move to CIE after the transition away from 14(c) employment and those who earned lower hourly wages in September 2015 were more likely to participate in day services.

Figure 10: Employment and Other Outcomes Among Oregonians with I/DD Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment by Baseline Hourly Wage Level, September 2015-September 2023



Percentage of participants





Year (March and September)

Percentage of participants



Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

Less than \$2.08 (First quartile)

Percentage of participants

	Competitive integrated employment (CIE): Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment: 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities: Non- residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services: Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job	14(c) employment
Sept 2015	100	0	0	0	0
Mar 2016	79	0	0	3	15
Sept	68	1	0	6	20
Mar 2017	60	2	1	11	19
Sept	50	3	2	16	18
Mar 2018	41	4	4	19	16
Sept	32	3	3	24	18
Mar 2019	22	3	3	28	15
Sept	17	6	5	29	13
Mar 2020	8	8	5	28	18
Sept	0	5	2	14	20
Mar 2021	0	5	3	16	16
Sept	0	7	2	20	13
Mar 2022	0	8	2	19	12
Sept	0	8	3	21	10
Mar 2023	0	8	3	22	9
Sept	0	6	3	27	7

Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

\$2.08 to \$3.93 (Second quartile)

Percentage of participants

	Competitive integrated employment (CIE): Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment: 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities: Non- residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services: Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job	14(c) employment
Sept 2015	100	0	0	0	0
Mar 2016	83	0	0	2	11
Sept	74	0	1	3	12
Mar 2017	64	3	3	5	16
Sept	53	4	6	7	17
Mar 2018	46	6	6	9	15
Sept	30	7	7	12	21
Mar 2019	27	6	8	14	17

	Competitive integrated employment (CIE): Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment: 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities: Non- residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services: Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job	14(c) employment
Sept	21	7	9	17	15
Mar 2020	15	8	9	19	17
Sept	1	6	3	11	28
Mar 2021	1	6	4	12	24
Sept	0	8	7	14	18
Mar 2022	0	10	5	13	17
Sept	0	10	6	15	14
Mar 2023	0	11	7	16	10
Sept	0	11	7	17	9

Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

\$3.94 to \$6.00 (Third quartile)

Percentage of participants

	Competitive integrated employment (CIE): Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment: 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities: Non- residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services: Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job	14(c) employment
Sept 2015	100	0	0	0	0
Mar 2016	79	1	1	0	16
Sept	67	3	4	1	19
Mar 2017	54	4	6	3	22
Sept	46	7	7	4	22
Mar 2018	42	7	8	6	19
Sept	33	9	8	7	20
Mar 2019	29	11	8	7	19
Sept	22	11	8	11	18
Mar 2020	17	12	8	10	18
Sept	3	10	4	7	29
Mar 2021	3	10	6	7	22
Sept	1	11	7	9	19
Mar 2022	1	11	9	13	16
Sept	1	12	8	12	13
Mar 2023	1	12	9	14	11
Sept	0	13	9	14	11

Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

More than \$6.00 (Fourth quartile)

Percentage of participants

	Competitive integrated employment (CIE): Integrated employment making at least minimum wage	Group employment: 2-8 people with disabilities making at least minimum wage	Day services or community activities: Non- residential programs that assist with life skills	Employment preparation services: Counseling, training, and other help with seeking a job	14(c) employment
Sept 2015	100	0	0	0	0
Mar 2016	53	5	4	1	34
Sept	41	7	7	2	35
Mar 2017	35	11	6	3	35
Sept	29	12	6	3	33
Mar 2018	27	17	5	4	27
Sept	23	16	6	6	26
Mar 2019	18	18	7	7	25
Sept	14	19	7	9	23
Mar 2020	10	19	7	13	19
Sept	1	13	4	7	27
Mar 2021	1	13	5	6	22
Sept	1	17	6	9	17
Mar 2022	1	18	5	12	15
Sept	1	20	4	13	12
Mar 2023	1	19	5	13	12
Sept	0	17	6	13	11

Source: GAO analysis of Oregon's Employment Outcomes System and Medicaid usage data. | GAO-25-106471

Note: 14(c) employment involves paying people with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. This figure includes 1,875 individuals with intellectual or developmental disabilities (I/DD) who were receiving Medicaid supported employment services in September 2015 and working for less than the Oregon minimum wage in 14(c) employment. We grouped individuals into quartiles based on their hourly wages in 14(c) employment in September 2015 (i.e., lowest 25 percent, 26-50 percent, 51-75 percent, 76-100 percent). Individuals may have received more than one Medicaid service in any given month. To avoid double-counting, the figure shows each individual once per month in which they received any of the designated Medicaid services, in the following priority order: (1) supported employment for CIE, (2) supported employment for group employment, (3) employment preparation, or (4) day services or community activities. For example, a person receiving supported employment services for working in group employment may have also received day services, but this figure reflects their employment.

^a14(c) employment includes paying wages below the federal minimum to individuals with disabilities if their earning or productive capacity is limited because of their disability.

^bCompetitive integrated employment is earning at least minimum wage in a workplace setting where people with disabilities work alongside people without disabilities.

°Group employment entails small groups (two to eight people with disabilities) making at least minimum wage.

^dDay services are non-residential programs to assist with self-help, socialization, and adaptive skills.

^eEmployment preparation services include Medicaid-provided services to obtain employment, including counseling or training. They do not include preemployment services provided by the Vocational Rehabilitation program.

Vocational Rehabilitation data. Third, we obtained data on Oregon's Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) cases that were open at any time between July 2014 through April 2024 for individuals in our study population. The VR data contained information on dates associated with applications (e.g., when initial applications were filed, when plans associated with service delivery were signed, and when cases were closed), as well as the

outcome of the cases (e.g., if the person obtained CIE). We conducted analysis to determine how many of the 1,875 individuals with I/DD who were working for less than the state minimum wage in September 2015 participated in VR services during the timeframe, how many successfully obtained CIE and maintained it for at least 90 days, and how many of those individuals received Medicaid services to support their CIE job after competing VR.

Oregon Data Reliability

For all three of the Oregon datasets described above, we assessed the reliability of selected variables by conducting electronic data tests for completeness and accuracy, reviewing documentation on the dataset, and interviewing knowledgeable state officials about how the data were collected and maintained and their appropriate uses. Through this process, we identified some limitations of the EOS data and, where needed, applied measures to mitigate the effect of the limitations. Specifically:

- The data did not specifically identify which individuals were employed in 14(c) employment but included an
 indicator of whether individuals were being paid less than the state's minimum wage. We used hourly pay
 rates under the state's minimum wage as a proxy for 14(c) employment, which, as described previously, likely
 includes the vast majority of those employed under 14(c) certificates in Oregon during the period the data
 covered.
- Oregon officials told us that some individuals who were self-employed may have reported earnings and hours worked that were the equivalent of less than minimum wage due to the lack of consistent hourly earnings in self-employment. Using the data, we identified two individuals who were earning the equivalent of less than minimum wage through self-employment in our baseline month of September 2015. Because those individuals were not working in 14(c) employment at the time, we removed them from our study population.
- Medicaid in Oregon offers an infrequently used service called "on the job attendant care" that provides
 individuals working in CIE with needed supports related to activities of daily living but not with job coaching.
 We included individuals receiving such care in our count of individuals receiving supported employment
 services for CIE. According to state officials, "on the job attendant care" is generally provided by personal
 support workers who are not required to report wages and hours for the CIE positions being supported.
 Therefore, wages and hours were not consistently reported for those receiving "on the job attendant care," and
 we excluded those 66 records, or 2.5 percent of all records classified as CIE, from our analysis of average
 wages and hours worked for CIE.
- Due to fluctuations in the number of people who were working in 14(c) employment, in CIE, or in group employment over time and changes in the underlying composition of those who were employed, we did not evaluate trends in average hourly wages or hours worked by type of employment over time.

Despite the EOS data limitations and in conjunction with the steps we took to address the limitations listed above, we determined that the data from these three datasets were sufficiently reliable for the purpose of analyzing available data on employment outcomes for individuals who used to work in 14(c) employment in Oregon.

Conducting Interviews with People Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment

As previously noted, our prior work has shown that most people employed in 14(c) jobs in August 2021 had I/DD.¹⁴ In preparation for our interviews, we first conducted a literature search of relevant scholarly research articles published after 2010 that discussed leading practices for interviewing individuals with I/DD. Through our literature search, we identified four main categories of leading practices: recruiting practices, interview structures, intentional interview language, and alternative communication methods (for example, visual aids). We incorporated leading practices from each category in designing our interview questions and the structure of our interviews, including using plain language, incorporating breaks, and having visual aids available. We incorporated other suggested practices, including using interviewers with experience interviewing individuals with I/DD.¹⁵

Selecting Individuals and Caregivers for Interviews

To obtain the views of those who were affected by the elimination of the use of 14(c) certificates, we conducted in-person, semi-structured interviews with 19 people who formerly worked in 14(c) employment in Colorado and Oregon; in most cases, we also interviewed their caregivers. We worked with state officials, case managers, former 14(c) employers, and others to identify people with a range of experiences, including those both working and not working and those in both rural and urban locations. In Colorado, we worked with former 14(c) employers in three counties. In Oregon, we worked with case managers to reach out to potential individuals in two counties. We offered individuals the option to bring a caregiver, such as a family member, guardian, or other support person, to the interview. Caregivers of 16 individuals participated in interviews.

Our overall objective in conducting interviews was to hear about the views and experiences of people who previously worked in 14(c) employment, including their experience transitioning out of 14(c) employment. For example, we asked people what they liked and did not like about their experiences with their 14(c) job. We asked similar questions about their experiences with day services and CIE when applicable. We did not independently validate the information provided during interviews. The information from interviews presented in this report reflects the perspectives of individuals and their caregivers and is not generalizable to all people who worked in 14(c) employment in these states or in other states. Regardless of this limitation, the interviews provided insight into the experiences and views of the individuals and their caregivers. Figure 11 shows selected characteristics of the individuals we interviewed; these were self-reported or reported by their caregiver.

¹⁴GAO-23-105116.

¹⁵One of the leading practices we identified was the importance of interviewer experience and training when interviewing people with I/DD. Based on this research, we contracted with a firm with experience interviewing individuals with I/DD to facilitate interviews alongside GAO staff for the first two of our three site visits to selected states—Colorado and Oregon. In addition, we experienced challenges obtaining participants for our interviews. To encourage participation and in accordance with best practices we identified in the literature, we offered gift cards to participants.



Figure 11: Self-Reported Characteristics of Individuals GAO Interviewed Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment

Source: GAO analysis of interviews with individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers. | GAO-25-106471

Colorado	Not working	Working	
Total (9)	4	5	
Accessed day services	4	5	

Oregon	Not working	Working	
Total (10)	4	6	
Accessed day services	3	2	
Did not access day services	1	4	

Source: GAO analysis of interviews with individuals who previously worked in 14(c) employment and their caregivers. | GAO-25-106471

Analyzing Interview Content

We captured audio and video recordings of the interviews, which we had professionally transcribed. We then reviewed the audio and video recordings along with the transcripts to ensure accuracy.

We conducted a systematic content analysis of the interview transcripts using NVivo software to identify common themes. We created an initial codebook of topic categories and themes. The final codebook included categories and themes we discussed in the report that are listed with their definitions in table 3. Because content analysis relies on the judgment of coders to determine whether qualitative data reflects particular themes, three analysts jointly reviewed and coded all interview transcripts to ensure objectivity, accuracy, and consistency.

Table 3: Themes and Definitions from GAO's Content Analysis of Interviews with Individuals Who Used to Work in 14(c) Employment and Their Caregivers

Category	Theme	Definition
Past 14(c) Employment	Likes (Individual)	From the individual's perspective: references to what the individual enjoyed or liked about their prior 14(c) employment or work environment.
	Dislikes (Individual)	From the individual's perspective: references to what the individual did not enjoy or did not like about their prior 14(c) employment or work environment.
	Likes (Caregiver)	From the caregiver's perspective: references to what the caregiver said they or the individual enjoyed or liked about the individual's prior 14(c) employment or work environment.
	Dislikes (Caregiver)	From the caregiver's perspective: references to what the caregiver said they or the individual did not enjoy or did not like about the individual's prior 14(c) employment or work environment.
Transition	Social Connections	References to the social connections the individual had (e.g., relationships with coworkers from previous 14(c) employment or CIE, involvement with day services, or other activities) after the transition out of 14(c) employment.
	Opportunities	References the individual or caregiver made about opportunities the individual experienced during their transition out of 14(c) employment.
	Challenges	References the individual or caregiver made about challenges the individual experienced after transitioning out of 14(c) employment.
Day Services	Likes (Individual)	From the individual's perspective: references to what the individual enjoyed or liked about their day services.
	Dislikes (Individual)	From the individual's perspective: references to what the individual did not enjoy or disliked about their day services.
	Likes (Caregiver)	From the caregiver's perspective: references to what the caregiver said they or the individual enjoyed or liked about the individual's day services.
	Dislikes (Caregiver)	From the caregiver's perspective: references to what the caregiver said they or the individual did not enjoy or disliked about the individual's day services.
Current Competitive Integrated Employment (CIE)	Likes (Individual)	From the individual's perspective: references to what the individual enjoyed or liked about their employment at the time of the interview.
	Dislikes (Individual)	From the individual's perspective: references to what the individual did not enjoy or disliked about their job at the time of the interview.
	Likes (Caregiver)	From the caregiver's perspective: references to what the caregiver said they or the individual enjoyed or liked about the individual's employment at the time of the interview.
	Dislikes (Caregiver)	From the caregiver's perspective: references to what the caregiver said they or the individual did not enjoy or did not like about the individual's job at the time of the interview.
Federal Benefits	Affects benefits	References the individual or caregiver made about the possible effects of working on the individual's federal benefits.

Category	Theme	Definition	
	Does not affect benefits	References the individual or caregiver made that refer to how the individual's federal benefits have not been affected.	
	How benefits factor into their decisions	References to how the individual or caregiver factored possible effects to the individual's federal benefits into making employment decisions (e.g., working additional hours).	
	Has an A Better Life Experience (ABLE) account	References to the individual having an ABLE account and its impacts.	
	Does not have an ABLE account	References to the individual not having or not knowing about ABLE accounts.	

Source: GAO analysis of interview transcripts with individuals previously employed in 14(c) employment and their caregivers. | GAO-25-106471

Note: 14(c) employment is work performed by people with disabilities who may be paid less than the federal minimum wage. Day services are nonresidential Medicaid services that assist with life skills. Competitive integrated employment refers to integrated employment in the community where employees are paid at least minimum wage.

Next, we identified common subthemes that were discussed during our interviews. Examples of subthemes include specific aspects of the individual's prior 14(c) employment that they said they liked or disliked (e.g., the tasks and responsibilities they completed). In most cases, we chose to discuss in detail subthemes that arose during three or more interviews since we interviewed a small number of people and not every person offered comments on each question. Throughout the report, we use the term "frequently" to describe these subthemes. When applicable, we also cross-referenced characteristics of the individuals we interviewed, such as whether someone was employed or in day services, to provide additional context to themes and subthemes identified.

We also identified quotes to include in the report as illustrative examples. In some cases, we lightly edited the quote for clarity or readability, or to remove potentially identifiable information.

We conducted this performance audit from December 2022 through April 2025 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Appendix II: State Data Collection Efforts Related to Eliminating the Use of 14(c) Certificates

Table 4: States That Have Enacted Legislation Eliminating the Use of 14(c) Certificates and Their Related Data Collection Efforts

State	Effective date of enacted legislation ^a	Collecting data specific to ending sub-minimum wages	Collecting data to measure employment outcomes	Variables collected ^b	State agencies collecting data
Alaska	December 12, 2022	No	No	None	None
California	January 1, 2025	Yes	Yes	Hours worked, move to competitive integrated employment (CIE), move to unpaid activity, employment status	Department of Developmental Services and regional centers ^c
Colorado	July 1, 2025	Yes	Yes	Hours worked, wages earned, move to CIE, move to unpaid activity	Department of Health Care Policy and Financing
Delaware	January 31, 2024	Yes	Yes	Wages earned, move to CIE, move to unpaid activity, employment status	Division of Developmental Disabilities Services and Division of Vocational Rehabilitation
Hawaii	June 16, 2021	No	No	None	None
Illinois	December 31, 2029	Yes	Yes	To be determined	Task Force on Employment and Economic Opportunity for Persons with Disabilities, Department of Human Services
Maine	June 16, 2020	No	No	None	None
Maryland	October 1, 2020	Yes	Yes	Hours worked, wages earned, move to CIE, move to unpaid activity, employment status	Developmental Disabilities Administration
Nevada	January 1, 2028	Yes	Yes	Move to CIE, move to unpaid activity, employment status	Aging and Disability Services Division
New Hampshire	July 6, 2015	Yes	Yes	Hours worked, wages earned, move to CIE	Area Agencies ^d and service providers; Department of Health and Human Services
Oregon ^e	July 1, 2023	Yes	Yes	Hours worked, wages earned, move to CIE, move to unpaid activity, employment status	Department of Human Services, Office of Developmental Disabilities Services

State	Effective date of enacted legislation ^a	Collecting data specific to ending sub-minimum wages	Collecting data to measure employment outcomes	Variables collected ^b	State agencies collecting data
Rhode Island ^f	June 15, 2022	Yes	Yes	Hours worked, wages earned, move to CIE, employment status	Department of Behavioral Healthcare, Developmental Disabilities and Hospitals; Office of Rehabilitation Services, Department of Education; Department of Labor and Training
South Carolina ^g	August 1, 2024	No	No	None	None
Tennessee	July 1, 2022	No	No	None	None
Virginia ^h	July 1, 2030	Yes	Yes	Hours worked, wages earned, move to CIE	Department for Aging and Rehabilitative Services and Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services
Washington	July 31, 2023 ⁱ	Yes	Yes	Hours worked, wages earned, move to CIE, move to unpaid activity, employment status	Division of Vocational Rehabilitation and Developmental Disabilities Administration

Source: GAO analysis of state websites, interviews with state officials, responses to questionnaires received from states, and selected state legislation. | GAO-25-106471

Note: Information is current as of January 2025. To identify states that have eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates and summarize the state legislation, we obtained information from Department of Labor officials, state websites, interviews with state officials, and responses to questionnaires received from states. We also reviewed relevant state legislation to confirm the information from those other sources.

^aFor states in which legal changes took effect in phases over time, the effective date listed is the date on which the state's final phase became effective.

^bWe asked state officials about whether they were collecting data on the following variables: hours worked, wages earned, movement to competitive integrated employment, movement to unpaid activity, and employment status.

°California delivers services to individuals with developmental disabilities through a statewide network of 21 community-based, non-profit agencies known as regional centers.

^dIn New Hampshire, area agencies provide, either directly or through subcontractors, an array of services for individuals who have a developmental disability or an acquired brain disorder.

^eOregon entered a settlement agreement in 2015 covering people with intellectual or developmental disabilities, including those in sheltered workshops. This agreement set targets, such as reducing the number of individuals in sheltered workshops and increasing the provision of employment services.

^fRhode Island was subject to a consent decree beginning in 2014 covering people with intellectual or developmental disabilities, including those in sheltered workshops. This decree set targets such as the number of individuals who needed to find competitive integrated employment.

^aThis is the date that state officials told us they had advised relevant staff that 14(c) certificates could no longer be used to pay subminimum wages.

^hEffective August 2012, Virginia is under a consent decree that focuses on integrated employment but does not specifically require the closure of sheltered workshops or the reduction in the number of people in sheltered work.

Washington could not issue new certificates after the effective date, but existing certificates remained valid until their expiration.

Employment (CIE) Workplace

Appendix III: Profiles of Selected States

This appendix provides additional information on the two states we selected to gain insights into the effects of eliminating the use of 14(c) certificates, which allow employers to pay certain people with disabilities less than the federal minimum wage. We selected these states (Colorado and Oregon) because they had multiple years of relevant data on outcomes and had eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates recently enough that individuals who formerly worked in the program and their caregivers could more easily speak to their experiences with the transition. Specifically, we selected states where the transition was ongoing or completed not earlier than 2020. See Appendix I for more information on our state selection process. To add context to our findings and better understand the landscape of each selected state, we interviewed relevant state agency officials, such as those from developmental disabilities services agencies, and other selected stakeholders involved in efforts to transition away from 14(c) employment.

In the profiles that follow, we summarize information from interviews with state officials and other stakeholders on:

- the state's history leading up to enacting legislation to eliminate the use of 14(c) certificates;
- the data each state collected related to the transition away from 14(c) employment; and
- any advice state officials and stakeholders had for other states considering a transition away from 14(c) employment.

Appendix III: State Profiles

Colorado

Data Collection Related to the Transition Away from 14(c)

Time period of data collected: July 2021 - June 2023

Population covered: 195 individuals working in 14(c) jobs (as of June 2021)

Source: 9 remaining 14(c) employers

Data elements: Initial placements, hourly wage, hours worked per week, Medicaid services received each month

Advice from Colorado's Transition

We asked state officials and selected stakeholders about what worked well in the transition away from 14(c) employment, as well as what they would have done differently.

Stakeholder input. According to state officials, it was important to gather input from stakeholders prior to the transition. Colorado officials said while developing the legislation, they worked closely with the state's Protection & Advocacy organization, which safeguards the rights of individuals with intellectual or developmental disabilities (I/DD). They told us that having hard conversations with stakeholder groups representing those who the change would impact most was key to setting a good foundation.

Collaboration. Colorado officials cited "unprecedented" collaboration between the state's Medicaid and Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) agencies as being a critical aspect of their transition away from 14(c) employment. An official from an organization representing service providers in Colorado also reported that the coordination between the two agencies worked well. Colorado officials said that discussing how to leverage different funding streams, including both state and federal funding, across agencies to provide assistance was important.

Technical assistance. Colorado state officials and a stakeholder said that they received technical assistance by participating in the National Expansion of Employment Opportunities Network project through the federal Department of Labor. The stakeholder also said that several service providers in Colorado also received direct technical assistance through this project. The provider organization official said that, from her perspective, the technical assistance the state provided was helpful.

Medicaid buy-in and additional services. According to stakeholders and officials, the legislation that eliminated the use of 14(c) certificates in Colorado expanded the Medicaid buy-in option, which allows people to keep their services even once they are working. Officials also said that the state created two new types of services: ongoing benefits counseling and "line of sight" job supervision. The state received federal approval to add those as Medicaid waiver services.

Advice for other states. One stakeholder said that providing incentives or support for employers to directly hire people moving out of 14(c) employment may have been helpful. Officials said that if the state were to do it over again, they would have added more qualitative data collection to capture more stories of individuals affected by the legislation.



History of the 14(c) Transition

According to state officials, Colorado has taken steps in recent years to move people out of 14(c) employment, where certain people with disabilities can be paid less than minimum wage, into competitive integrated employment (CIE), where people with disabilities work in the community for minimum wage or higher. One of these steps was creating an Office of Employment First in 2019. Employment First is a nationwide, state-led movement which provides a framework for systems change that is centered on the premise that all citizens are capable of full participation in CIE.

- **2016**: Established Employment First Advisory Partnership (EFAP), which allowed for statewide coordination on Employment First efforts
- **2018**: Enacted legislation implementing EFAP's recommendations, including creation of an Office of Employment First
- 2021: Enacted legislation eliminating the use of 14(c) certificates by July 2025

State officials said the transition away from 14(c) was well underway by the time the legislation was enacted. They said that at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, approximately 500 people were working in 14(c) employment.

By the time the legislation was enacted in 2021, 195 people remained in 14(c) jobs. When Colorado began collecting data, many of the employers operating with 14(c) certificates had already stopped paying subminimum wages.

Source: GAO interviews with state officials and stakeholders. \mid GAO-25-106471

Appendix III: State Profiles

Oregon

Data Collection Related to the Transition Away from 14(c)

Time period of data collected: September 2015 - present

Population covered: 1,875 individuals with I/DD working in sheltered workshops for less than minimum wage

Source: Service providers, Medicaid and Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) data

Data elements: Current activity, hourly wage, hours worked per week, Medicaid services received each month, VR services

Advice from Oregon's Transition

We asked state officials and selected stakeholders, including self-advocates, about what worked well in the transition away from 14(c) employment, along with what they would have done differently.

Stakeholder input. State officials in Oregon we interviewed said it was important to get input from stakeholders. Officials said they met often with VR officials, case managers, and providers during the transition to discuss counseling, job exploration, and barriers. Stakeholders we interviewed echoed this opinion, and said that involving self-advocates at the beginning made the process less adversarial.

Collaboration. Oregon officials said that the VR and the Developmental Disabilities Services agencies partnered to expose people in sheltered workshops to different potential employment opportunities. Stakeholders in Oregon said that it was helpful to start the collaboration between state agencies, providers, and others as early in the process as possible.

Technical assistance. State officials said they provided support for employers transitioning away from a sheltered workshop model. The state developed a "state as a model employer" program for people with I/DD, which officials said was among the most valuable actions they took. Stakeholders in Oregon told us that state-facilitated peer-to-peer networking and consulting services were beneficial to providers.

Funding. Oregon officials said that the state funded around 30 capacity-building grants for sheltered workshops, along with innovation grants. The ideas generated from the innovation grants are now available to other states. They said that the state provided funding for three new positions dedicated to supporting the transition, including assisting providers with financial assessments of their business model. Finally, state officials said Oregon changed Medicaid rates for employment services to incentivize the hours someone works, rather than the hours of services they receive.

Advice for other states. One stakeholder emphasized the importance of being able to track what is happening on an individual level, so that states can ensure that people who didn't transition into employment are still being served. Another stakeholder discussed the importance of making sure that there are enough day program spaces to serve those who want them, including people with high support needs or behavioral issues, and that there are enough caregivers for those who need help in the home.



History of the 14(c) Transition

State officials said that Oregon entered into an agreement with the Department of Justice in 2015 to settle a lawsuit related to the state's provision of employment services to people with intellectual or developmental disabilities (I/DD) in segregated settings, known as sheltered workshops. They said the agreement set targets related to reducing the number of individuals in sheltered workshops and increasing the provision of employment services and also included twice-yearly data collection.

- 2008: Adopted Employment First policy
- **2013**: Issued Executive Order on integrated employment (employment in the community at or above minimum wage) for people with I/DD, which ended entrance into sheltered workshops
- **2015**: Developed Integrated Employment Plan to guide transition away from sheltered workshops
- **2015**: Entered settlement agreement covering people with I/DD that state officials said set targets increasing the provision of employment services
- **2019**: Enacted legislation eliminating the use of 14(c) certificates, which allow certain people with disabilities to be paid less than minimum wage 14(c) certificates by July 2025

Source: GAO interviews with state officials and stakeholders. | GAO-25-106471

Appendix IV: GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments

GAO Contact

Elizabeth H. Curda at EWISInquiry@gao.gov.

Staff Acknowledgments

In addition to the contact named above, Rachael Chamberlin (Assistant Director), Amy Sweet (Analyst in Charge), Isabella Anderson, Gabriella Baxter, and Kamala Mullur made key contributions to this report. Also contributing to this report were James Bennett, Sherwin Chapman, Daniel Concepcion, Alex Galuten, Kelsey Kreider, Hannah Locke, Amy MacDonald, Michael Murray, Carl Nadler, Jessica Orr, Kelly Rubin, Rebecca Sero, Molly Walker, and Chaojie Wang.

GAO's Mission

The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability.

Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony

The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through our website. Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. You can also subscribe to GAO's email updates to receive notification of newly posted products.

Order by Phone

The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, https://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm.

Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537.

Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information.

Connect with GAO

Connect with GAO on X, LinkedIn, Instagram, and YouTube. Subscribe to our Email Updates. Listen to our Podcasts. Visit GAO on the web at https://www.gao.gov.

To Report Fraud, Waste, and Abuse in Federal Programs

Contact FraudNet:

Website: https://www.gao.gov/about/what-gao-does/fraudnet

Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454

Media Relations

Sarah Kaczmarek, Managing Director, Media@gao.gov

Congressional Relations

A. Nicole Clowers, Managing Director, CongRel@gao.gov

General Inquiries

https://www.gao.gov/about/contact-us